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Message from the Chair to the Minister of Forests and Range

01 June, 2007

The Honourable Rich Coleman
Minister of Forests and Range and Minister Responsible for Housing
Province of British Columbia

Dear Minister:
Nearly 80% of the timber harvested in B.C. is processed in a sawmill, and in 2006 some 80% of the resulting
lumber was exported. Customers in the United States accounted for over 84% of the export sales, driven
primarily by housing construction and renovation. Customers in Japan accounted for a further 10%, meaning
that the B.C. forest sector is overwhelmingly dependent on sales to two countries.
In 2006 the B.C. lumber sector experienced a very difﬁcult year because of a dramatic decline in housing starts in
the U.S. Although that was somewhat offset by a moderate increase in revenues to the pulp sector, on balance
the industry’s experience reinforced the imperative to protect market share in the U.S. and Japan, and diversify
beyond those historical markets. FII’s mandate is to do precisely that, and I am pleased to outline some of the
company’s highlights in pursuit of that on-going goal.
Softwood lumber remains B.C.’s strong suit, and no one would argue that the U.S. will remain our most
important market by far, regardless of whether housing starts are up or down. Thanks to abundant forest
resources, North Americans are certain to continue using wood frame technology to build the vast majority of
new homes, technology that is affordable, energy efﬁcient over time, and more environmentally friendly than
any competing building system. But relative to the total value of new construction, non-residential structures
in the United States use only one-seventh as much structural wood as do residential structures.
In a world that is dramatically more attuned to climate change and greenhouse gas emissions, it makes sense
to move away from concrete and steel, in favour or wood framing for low-rise commercial, recreational and
institutional buildings. I am pleased to say that FII and the trade associations it funds have initiated a program to
make architects, developers, and building owners aware of the many beneﬁts of using wood instead of concrete
and steel. We are optimistic that they can be convinced to turn to structural lumber and panels as a major
element of building in a more environmentally friendly way.
In the context of whether or not B.C. wood products come from well managed forests, FII surveys in 2006/07
showed that 93% of our international customers felt that choosing wood products from B.C. was indeed a good
choice for the environment. In no small part this sentiment can be traced to the proactive communications that
FII staff have developed and delivered over the past four years.
Our messaging, however, is quickly evolving to reﬂect the fact that the “green building” movement is gaining
momentum, expanding beyond the commercial and institutional building sector, and into the realm of residential
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construction. FII and its partners have begun to actively promote the messaging, the science, and the analytical
tools surrounding the fact that building with wood is good for the environment.
As mentioned above, Japan is B.C.’s second largest market for softwood lumber, and indeed for all solid wood
products. I am pleased to say that we appear to have turned a corner in terms of regaining market share in the
all-important post-and-beam housing sector. Thanks in part to earlier research and development funding by FII,
B.C. suppliers were successful in securing Japanese government approval of a new line of kiln-dried hemlock
lumber. It is being introduced to Japanese customers at the same time that European suppliers of laminated
lumber are backing away from Japan because of higher ocean freight rates, tighter log supplies in Europe, and
higher lumber prices in Europe and the Middle East.
After two years of FII’s presence in China, we are more optimistic than ever that we will be able to create a large
market for B.C. lumber in that country. FII’s research has documented the important characteristics of housing
programs in China, where over 10 million new starts occur each year. Research shows that only a couple of
hundred are wood frame. Virtually every new home is made of concrete, brick, or steel, largely because China
depleted its forest resources many decades ago, and was closed to imports for much of the intervening period.
The role of FII’s subsidiary company in China is to undertake basic market research and to lead with real-world
demonstration projects to make architects, designers, builders and government ofﬁcials aware of our wood
frame technology. Technical expertise is provided by the Canada Wood Group, which is a federation of ﬁve
B.C. industry trade associations and one from Quebec. Funded mostly by Natural Resources Canada and FII,
the Canada Wood Group experts are in the lead with creating Chinese building codes and ﬁre codes that
will accommodate North American wood frame systems, and by extension, B.C. lumber species, dimensions
and grades.
In 2006/07 FII completed construction of two large single-family villas next door to our Dream Home Canada
Demonstration Centre in Shanghai. The Centre and the villas continue to draw interest from across the country.
In recent months we learned, for example, that Chinese developers were in the process of replicating our
Demonstration Centre building elsewhere in Shanghai and in the city of Changsha.
Chinese municipalities have launched massive programs to repair and improve tens of thousands of old
apartment blocks. Until now, all of that work has been based on using light steel. Our most signiﬁcant
near-term objective in China is to introduce North American wood truss technology and B.C. wood products
to demonstrate that the wood-based approach is faster, cheaper, more energy efﬁcient over time, and friendlier
to the environment.
In 2006/07, FII worked with a developer and regulatory ofﬁcials in Shanghai to complete three apartment
re-rooﬁng projects using wood truss technology for the ﬁrst time. We also partnered with the Quebec Wood
Export Bureau to do similar work on eight apartment blocks in Qingdao. Developers and municipal ofﬁcials are
enthusiastic about adopting this approach and we believe we are on the verge of seeing signiﬁcant commercial
uptake in Shanghai. In terms of expanding to other parts of the country, municipal engineering department
ofﬁcials from Chongqing have asked FII staff to help them incorporate the wood truss option in designing their
re-rooﬁng program, and we expect similar uptake from many other cities.
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Message from the Chair to the Minister of Forests and Range

In Beijing we are building on our initial re-rooﬁng success by working with Chinese experts to design not only
a wood truss rooﬁng solution, but also the addition of one wood-frame storey to existing apartment buildings.
If building codes and ﬁre codes are ultimately accepting of this housing solution, the extra living space could be
sold to cover the cost of the entire project, a prospect that is very attractive to municipal budget managers.
The market for lumber in landscaping projects in China is growing exponentially across the country. In 2006/07
FII secured a Memorandum of Understanding with the southern city of Guangzhou for a large municipal
landscape project to be known as the Guangdong – British Columbia Paciﬁc Gateway Park. FII will provide
technical design and construction assistance, as well as appropriate cedar and pressure-treated lumber to
demonstrate the merits of B.C. products.
In Seoul, South Korea, FII is pleased to have joined with Natural Resources Canada to share the majority of the
cost of opening a private-sector Canada Wood Group ofﬁce to introduce the same technology and products as
we are introducing to China. In light of Korea’s 450,000 new housing starts each year, and its cultural afﬁnity
for wood frame housing, the public- and private-sector partners in Korea are aiming to increase wood frame
housing starts to 15,000 units annually by 2012.
In Indonesia, FII initiated and managed the provision of 10 demonstration houses in 2005/06 to introduce
our building products and wood frame technology. Flowing from that work with the agencies responsible
for rebuilding after the tsunami, I am pleased to conﬁrm that two ﬁrms in B.C. secured contracts in mid-2006
for a total of nearly 600 houses. Those structures were nearly completed by the end of 2006/07.
FII is building on the Indonesia experience to see if it can help solve a major housing problem faced by the
Government of Mongolia. An on-going drought and particularly severe winters have driven a half million
Mongolians to abandon their traditional nomadic herding lifestyle, and migrate to the capital city of Ulaan
Baatar. They have settled in unplanned temporary shelters around the city, and the government wants to
provide them with proper wood frame housing in rationalized communities. The government has been
looking to B.C. for help.
With funding from FII, the B.C. Institute of Technology is assisting Mongolia with its adoption of the Canadian
wood frame building code. At the same time, FII is organizing the provision of two demonstration houses to
demonstrate their energy efﬁciency and other features, as well as test their cultural acceptability. Although the
market for B.C. wood products will never be very signiﬁcant in Mongolia, this is a good opportunity to promote
B.C. as the source of housing solutions, not just lumber. If FII is successful in Mongolia, the experience may prove
helpful in eventually promoting low-cost housing in rural China.
Closer to home, the Mountain Pine Beetle epidemic continues to sweep across the central and southern Interior,
with the volume of dead timber continuing to rise. 2006/07 marked the second year of an FII program dedicated
to better understanding the characteristics of that timber, and ﬁnding appropriate markets for products made
from it. In concert with faculty at the University of B.C., FII undertook the ﬁrst structured study of mill recovery
from trees that had been dead for ﬁve to seven years, the results of which were welcomed by a host of people
who need to know what lies ahead when the sawmill and pulp industries will have to rely heavily on such timber.
Industry advisors strongly encouraged FII to undertake more such studies, which it will in 2007/08.
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Also at home, FII successfully enabled the City of Richmond to choose a unique all-wood roof system for the
new speed skating oval for the 2010 Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games. Using over one million board
feet of spruce-pine-ﬁr lumber, and 19,000 sheets of plywood, the roof will span 6.5 acres in a design that
has never been done before. Along with the expanded Vancouver Convention Centre and other major 2010
Games venues, the oval will showcase innovative technology and B.C. wood products to innumerable television
audiences and visitors to the province.
From a ﬁscal perspective, FII and its funding recipients spent some $3 million less than was available in total
from the Ministry. This was primarily due to a delay in implementing the non-residential promotion program in
the United States, cancellation of several market communications projects, a delay in certain activities in China,
and some funding recipients not having sufﬁcient internal capacity to deliver all they had planned.
In 2007/08 FII will introduce a new program to stimulate the manufacture and marketing of value-added wood
products. This will be accomplished by returning the market communications program to its historic level,
and reducing the scale of FII’s direct-delivery activities in the market development programs. Funding to other
organizations in those programs will remain virtually unchanged, and will be augmented by $1 million for the
value-added program.
Whatever FII’s accomplishments may be in a given year, the most signiﬁcant feature of its business is the strong
collaboration that exists among FII, the federal government through its Canada Wood Export Program, the B.C.
industry, national research institutes, and B.C. universities. While some objectives are unique to each participant,
they all bring their unique strengths to bear in pursuing goals that reﬂect a shared desire for a robust, more
competitive forest sector.
The downside to this collaboration is that FII is continuously exposed to the risk of those other organizations
being unable or unwilling to continue with the partnership. FII mitigates this risk by actively consulting with
leaders across the forest sector to make sure its priorities and strategies are well supported. FII staff also strive
to ensure that their dialogue with each partner is fulsome and transparent.
In the context of risk management more generally, I am pleased to say that the company has created a
comprehensive listing of all signiﬁcant risks, and measures to mitigate them. Perhaps the greatest risk is the
exposure to staff turnover, reﬂecting the fact that FII is a very small organization in which each position is
unique. There are no redundancies, and therefore little room for anyone to advance within the company.
Despite proactive efforts to ensure every employee can experience a wide range of activities and learn about
matters beyond his or her normal scope, the organization is certain to suffer temporary setbacks with the
occasional departure of employees who have outgrown their positions.
The 2006/07 Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. Annual Report was prepared under my direction in accordance
with the Budget Transparency and Accountability Act. I am accountable for the contents of the report, including
what has been included in the report and how it has been reported.
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Message from the Chair to the Minister of Forests and Range

The information presented has been prepared in accordance with the B.C. Reporting Principles and reﬂects the
actual performance of FII for the 12 months ended March 31, 2007 in relation to the January 2006 service plan.
The measures presented are consistent with FII’s mission, goals and objectives for 2006/07, and focus on aspects
critical to the organization’s performance.
I am responsible for ensuring internal controls are in place to ensure performance information is measured
accurately and in a timely fashion.
All signiﬁcant decisions, events and identiﬁed risks, as of March 31, 2007 have been considered in preparing
the report. The report contains estimates and interpretive information that represent the best judgment of
management. Any changes in mandate direction, goals, objectives, strategies, measures or targets made since
the January 2006 service plan was released and any signiﬁcant limitations in the reliability of the data are
identiﬁed in the report.

Doug Konkin
Board Chair
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Overview

It is difﬁcult to over-state the importance of the Province’s forests to British Columbia’s history, society and
economy. About two thirds of the B.C. land base is forest. By law, these forests must be managed on a
sustainable basis to provide current and future generations with continuous economic, social, recreational,
and environmental beneﬁts.
In fact, British Columbia is a leader in forest practices. The province has more forest lands certiﬁed to
independent third party standards than any country in the world, with the exception of Canada as a whole.
Less than 1% of the province’s forests are harvested annually and 14% of the province is fully protected.
Even at this sustainable level, the forest industry is an economic engine that generates $15 billion in business
activity every year and employs an estimated 90,000 British Columbians. Including secondary indirect and
induced employment of about 130,000 workers, the forest sector accounts for approximately 1 in every
14 jobs in the province. B.C.’s forests, in economic terms, reach into every community across the province.
Maintaining the prosperity of the forest economy is a cornerstone of provincial economic policy.
The province’s forest economy is driven, in large part, by maintaining the industry’s competitiveness on world
markets. More than 80 % of B.C. forest products are sold to international customers. As exports go, so goes
the forest economy.
Reﬂecting the fundamental importance of the forest sector to British Columbia, Forestry Innovation Investment
Ltd. (FII) was established in 2003 as a Crown agency with a mandate to promote B.C. forest practices and
products internationally.

Global markets for B.C. wood products in 2006
The global demand for softwood/sawn wood products declined marginally by 0.5% in 2006 to 311 million m3.
International demand is expected to rebound in 2007 due to continuing growth in the global economy. Canada
continues to be the dominant supplier of softwood lumber to world markets while the U.S. and Japan are the
major importers.
B.C. is the source of 53% of Canada’s softwood product exports - including softwood lumber, softwood
plywood, OSB, MDF and particleboard. Of the softwood lumber category B.C. is the source for 58% share
of Canadian exports.
In terms of B.C.’s three major markets in 2006:
UÊ United States: U.S. demand dropped 4.7% driven by a slowing domestic housing market. The U.S. was
the main downward inﬂuence on global demand in 2006. B.C. increased its softwood lumber market share
of U.S. imports to 51.4% in 2006, from 49.2% a year ago, with the Europeans and other global suppliers
retreating from the U.S. market. Across all softwood categories, B.C. market share increased to 44.3% of
imports from 42.8% a year earlier. Due to declining demand, however, sales volume decreased to 30.3
million m3 from 31 million m3 in 2005. Declining demand in the U.S. also brought a major drop in lumber
and panel prices, making 2006 a difﬁcult year for virtually all lumber producers in North America.
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Overview

UÊ Japan: This country is B.C.’s largest market outside of the U.S. Japanese housing starts and wood
products demand performed well in 2006, with 2x4 housing starts rising to 105,000 units and surpassing
the previous record of 96,000 set in 2005. Similarly, post & beam construction, the largest housing
segment in Japan, rose to 433,000 units, the fourth consecutive year of positive growth. B.C. exports
of all softwood products were more than 3.6 million m3 in 2006, for a 39% share of Japan’s imports,
up from approximately 3.3 million m3 in 2005 and a 37% share in 2005.
UÊ China: Driven by a fast-growing economy, China is now the world’s second largest wood importer after
the U.S., and the largest importer of logs. By all accounts, 2006 was a good year for the B.C. lumber
business in China. Compared to the previous year, overall B.C. softwood lumber sales grew by 19%,
to reach a high of 389,870 m3. B.C.’s share of the total Chinese softwood lumber market grew to
19% from 17% in 2005.
UÊ Europe: Europe continues to be an important export market for B.C. Growing consumption in Europe
and constrained domestic log supply are increasing the opportunities for imported lumber. In 2006,
B.C. lumber sales to Europe were up 16%. EU countries have been at the forefront of promoting
third-party certiﬁcation of sustainable forest management, and the increase in B.C. sales can be
at least partly attributed to the fact that most products from B.C. are from certiﬁed forests.

Million m3

Global softwood lumber 2006: production,
consumption & net imports/exports
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B.C. lumber output and markets
In 2006, B.C. lumber production set a record of 17.4 billion board feet. This growth was entirely due to increased
production in the interior (partially in response to the Mountain Pine Beetle epidemic). While domestic shipments
were up 0.4%, total exports were down 0.2% from 2005. About 80% of production was exported, with B.C.
softwood lumber making up 92% of this volume. Five markets - the U.S., Japan and “greater” China (mainland
China, Hong Kong and Taiwan) - account for 96.1% of B.C. softwood exports.

Summary of BC commodity wood products - 2006
(x000 m3)
Softwood
Lumber

Softwood
Plywood

OSB

MDF

Particleboard

Total
Excl. Logs

% of
Exports

Production
Shipments to Canada

41,003
8,174

1,795
1,329

2,090
119

265
29

230
12

45,382
9,662

Exports
US
Japan
China
Taiwan
S. Korea
Other Asia
Australia
New Zealand
Europe (EU)
Other

27,682
3,462
390
253
142
121
78
21
263
316

425
34
2
0
0
0
0
0
3
2

1,802
125
6
1
34
0
0
0
0
1

214
0
4
4
7
0
0
0
0
6

219
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30,342
3,623
403
258
183
121
78
21
366
325

84.9%
10.1%
1.1%
0.7%
0.5%
0.3%
0.2%
0.1%
1.0%
0.9%

Total Exports

32,829

466

1,971

236

218

35,720

100.0%

80%

26%

94%

89%

95%

79%

91.9%

1.3%

5.5%

0.7%

0.6%

100%

% Exports of Production
% of Tot. BC Exports

0%

(Note: excludes pulp and paper and logs)

B.C.’s solid wood sector and pulp and paper sector together generated $14.06 billion in export revenues for
B.C. in 2005. This was more than any other sector of the economy and accounted for about 41% of commodity
export revenues for the province.
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FII mandate

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (FII) was established in 2003 as a Crown agency with a mandate in market
development and market communication to:
UÊ ÜÀÊÜÌ ÊÌ iÊvÀiÃÌÊ`ÕÃÌÀÞÊÌÊ«ÃÌÊ ° °Ê>ÃÊ>Ê}L>Êi>`iÀÊÊÃÕÃÌ>>LiÊvÀiÃÌÊ>>}iiÌÆ
UÊ LÀi>Ê`ÜÊÌÀ>`iÊ>`Ê>ÀiÌÊL>ÀÀiÀÃÊÌÊiÃÕÀiÊiÝ«ÀÌÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÊvÀÊ ° °ÊÜ`Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÆÊ
UÊ >Ì>]ÊLÕ`Ê>`Ê`ÛiÀÃvÞÊ>ÀiÌÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÊvÀÊ ° °½ÃÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÆÊ>`]
UÊ

i«ÊiÃÕÀiÊÌ iÊvÀiÃÌÊÃiVÌÀ]ÊÌ ÀÕ} ÊÃÌÀ}ÊÌiÀ>Ì>ÊÃ>iÃ]ÊVÌÕiÃÊÌÊLiÊ
a leading contributor to the B.C. economy.

In many ways FII acts a catalyst that enables and sustains product development, market access, and
marketing initiatives in the forest sector. The focus is on working with industry trade associations, research
institutes, and universities, rather than duplicating their efforts. FII shares the cost of these activities, and
also directly undertakes work that the industry can’t do on its own, or that can be more effectively done
by a government agency.
FII’s market development activities tend to focus on developing markets, and investing through trade associations
in building markets – activities of the greatest added value to the forest economy. FII’s market communication
activities tend to focus on mature commercial markets because the emphasis is on making existing customers
aware of, and comfortable with, B.C.’s leading forest practices.
The following diagram illustrates how FII focuses on areas where no market currently exists for B.C. products,
or is only just emerging. Industry trade associations and individual ﬁrms focus on more mature markets.
FII business focus

Mature Market

$PNQBOJFT

Emerging Market
5SBEF"TTPDJBUJPOT

Market Development Programs
Wood consumption

No Signifiicant existing Market
BC Market Outreach Network

t.BSLFUSFTFBSDI
t.BSLFUBDDFTT
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FII’s budget reﬂects this mandate with funds directed to existing major markets in the U.S. and Japan, as well
as emerging markets in China and Korea, and various niche markets globally. This is illustrated in the following
snapshot of FII’s budget allocations in mid-2006.

Summary of Budget by Market Region
$ Million
8.5
8.0
7.5
7.0
6.5
6.0
5.5
5.0
4.5
4.0
3.5
3.0
2.5
2.0
1.5
1.0
0.5
0

FII Administration
China Operations (FII Direct)
BC Market Outreach Network
Market Development
Programs (FII Direct)
Recipient Agreements

China

Japan

Korea

USA

EU

BC

Other
Markets

Across All
Markets

Vision
UÊ ÊÃÊ>ÊÛ>ÌÛiÊ>`ÊV>LÀ>ÌÛiÊvÀiÃÌÊ>ÀiÌ}ÊÃÕ««ÀÌÊ>`ÊvÕ`}Ê>}iVÞÊÌ >ÌÊiiÌÃÊÌ iÊii`ÃÊ
of government, the B.C. forest industry, international markets and British Columbians.

Mission
UÊ /ÊÃÕ««ÀÌÊÌ iÊ ° °ÊvÀiÃÌÊ`ÕÃÌÀÞÊÌÊ`iÛi«Ê>`Ê>ÀiÌÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÊvÀÊVÕÃÌiÀÃÊ>ÀÕ`ÊÌ iÊÜÀ`°

Values
FII delivers on its vision and mission through direct-delivered activities as well as through partnerships with
industry associations, academic institutions and agencies in other levels of government. This role is reﬂected in
the emphasis that FII places on building close working relationships with the sector as well as the ﬁduciary role
of a government agency overseeing the investment of public funds:
UÊ Focus on partnerships – FII works in partnership with Canada and industry associations to ensure
programs are efﬁciently delivered in a coordinated manner. FII encourages innovative programs and
responses to changing circumstances.
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FII mandate

UÊ Integrity and credibility – Projects and services are delivered by capable, motivated individuals who
focus on ensuring FII programs are credible and useful. FII staff learn from the past and continuously
improve the effectiveness and efﬁciency of FII programs by consulting widely and optimizing the use
of resources, based on transparent decision-making and investment processes.
UÊ A balanced portfolio of investments – FII seeks an appropriate balance between short-term and
longer-term public investments across the range of forest products and markets to optimize the returns
to British Columbia.

Key stakeholders and partners
FII’s key stakeholders and partners include:
UÊ

° °ÊvÀiÃÌÊV«>iÃÆ

UÊ vÀiÃÌÊ`ÕÃÌÀÞÊÌÀ>`iÊ>ÃÃV>ÌÃÆ
UÊ >V>`iVÊ>`ÊÀiÃi>ÀV ÊÃÌÌÕÌÃÊi}>}i`ÊÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÊÃÌÕ`iÃÆ
UÊ vi`iÀ>Ê}ÛiÀiÌÊ`i«>ÀÌiÌÃÊÃÕV Ê>ÃÊ >ÌÕÀ>Ê,iÃÕÀViÃÊ >>`>Ê >>`>Ê7`Ê Ý«ÀÌÊ*À}À>®Ê
>`Ê >>`>½ÃÊvÀi}ÊVÃÕ>ÌiÃÊ>`ÊiL>ÃÃiÃÆ
UÊ «ÀÛV>ÊÃÌÀiÃÊ>`Ê>}iViÃÆÊ>`
UÊ ÕV«>Ê}ÛiÀiÌÃÊÊÀÕÀ>Ê ° °
In 2006/07 FII worked directly with ﬁve federal and provincial government agencies in Canada, forest industry
trade associations, and four Canadian research and academic institutions. FII Shanghai partners included eight
Chinese government agencies, several Canadian consulates and embassies, and numerous B.C. forestry company
representatives in China and Canada.

14

Annual Report 06.indd 14

F o r e s t r y

I n n o v a t i o n

I n v e s t m e n t

6/18/07 1:17:13 PM

F I I

A N N U A L

S E R V I C E

P L A N

R E P O R T

|

2 0 0 6 / 0 7

Governance

FII was incorporated on March 31, 2003 under the Business Corporations Act. FII operates according to a
Shareholder’s Letter of Expectations from the Minister of Forests and Range, and a funding agreement with
the Ministry of Forests and Range.
FII staff are accountable to a board of directors consisting of:
UÊ

Õ}Ê]Ê i«ÕÌÞÊÃÌiÀÊvÊÀiÃÌÃÊ>`Ê,>}iÆ

UÊ />>À>Ê6À>]Ê i«ÕÌÞÊÃÌiÀÊvÊ>ViÆÊ>`]
UÊ

Ê>ÃÌ]Ê i«ÕÌÞÊÃÌiÀÊvÊ VVÊ iÛi«iÌ°

The board is responsible for setting FII’s strategic direction, approving annual budgets, ensuring ﬁscal integrity
and corporate risk management, sanctioning corporate policies, and generally providing direction to the CEO.
The board is supported by an audit committee which reviews, recommends and in some instances, approves
ﬁnancial statements and other ﬁnancial information. Members of the committee are:
UÊ />>À>Ê6À>]Ê i«ÕÌÞÊÃÌiÀÊvÊ>ViÆ
UÊ

Õ}Ê >LiV]ÊÃÃÃÌ>ÌÊ i«ÕÌÞÊÃÌiÀÊvÊ>>}iiÌÊ-iÀÛViÃ]ÊÃÌÀÞÊvÊ VVÊ
iÛi«iÌÆÊ>`]

UÊ >Ê >}Û>]ÊÃÃÃÌ>ÌÊ i«ÕÌÞÊÃÌiÀÊvÊ À«À>ÌiÊ-iÀÛViÃ]ÊÃÌÀÞÊvÊÀiÃÌÃÊ>`Ê,>}i°

Board’s governance principles
The board of directors has adopted the guiding principles of the provincial government’s Governance
Framework that outline the roles and responsibilities of all parties that are part of the Crown corporation
governance environment. The principles relate to:
UÊ ÃÌiÜ>À`Ã «]Êi>`iÀÃ «Ê>`ÊivviVÌÛiÊvÕVÌ}ÊvÊÌ iÊL>À`Æ
UÊ V>ÀÌÞÊvÊÀiÃÊ>`ÊÀiÃ«ÃLÌiÃÆ
UÊ «iiÃÃ]ÊÌÀÕÃÌÊ>`ÊÌÀ>Ã«>ÀiVÞÆ
UÊ ÃiÀÛViÊ>`ÊVÀ«À>ÌiÊVÌâiÃ «Æ
UÊ >VVÕÌ>LÌÞÊ>`Ê«iÀvÀ>ViÆÊ>`]
UÊ Û>Õi]ÊÛ>ÌÊ>`ÊVÌÕÕÃÊ«ÀÛiiÌ°

Governance best practices
The Province’s Board Resourcing and Development Ofﬁce has promulgated guidelines for Crown corporations,
which include a comprehensive description of best practices. FII’s status in respect of these guidelines is included
among corporate reports posted on the company’s website: www.bcﬁi.ca
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Governance

.
Advisory committees
FII is supported by two advisory committees drawn from ﬁrms in the forest industry:
UÊ >Ê-ÌÀ>Ìi}ÞÊ ÌÌiiÊvÊÃiÛiÊÃiÀÊiÝiVÕÌÛiÃÊvÀÊÌ iÊ >ÃÌ>Ê>`ÊÌiÀÀÊvÀiÃÌÊ`ÕÃÌÀiÃ]Ê
representing primary and secondary manufacturing as well as the remanufacturing sectors. The
committee members meet regularly to provide strategic advice to FII on programming, investments
and organizational objectives.
UÊ >Ê>ÀiÌÊVVi«Ì>ViÊ`ÛÃÀÞÊÀÕ«ÊVÌÀLÕÌiÃÊ>`ÛViÊÊ ÜÊLiÃÌÊÌÊiÃÕÀiÊÌ >ÌÊvÀi}ÊVÕÃÌiÀÃÊ
are aware of B.C.’s world-class forest management regime.

Information on subsidiary company
FII incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary registered under the laws of the People’s Republic of China –
FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. in March 2003. The company was required so that FII could carry out the
business of promoting wood-frame construction in China. As a wholly foreign-owned enterprise, FII Shanghai
is able to use facilities constructed in Shanghai to provide consulting services to FII and others, allowing FII to
pursue its marketing and promotional activities in the Chinese market.
The subsidiary’s year end is December 31 while FII’s year end is March 31. There are also restrictions imposed
on the distribution of earnings and other transactions with the foreign subsidiary based on the laws of the
People’s Republic of China. The subsidiary is entirely funded by the parent company so the yearly transactions
of the subsidiary are reﬂected in the Financial Statements of the parent Company.
FII Shanghai does not have its own board of directors. In accordance with Chinese law, it is led by its
Executive Director, who is Ken Baker, CEO of FII.

Corporate locations
FII’s corporate ofﬁce is located at 1200 - 1130 West Pender Street in downtown Vancouver, British
Columbia, while the company’s subsidiary ofﬁce is located in Shanghai, China in the Dream Home
Canada Demonstration Centre.

Minister responsible
The Minister of Forests and Range is responsible for FII.
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Business activities and organizational structure

FII’s structure is aligned with its mandate to promote B.C.’s forest practices and products internationally
through three business areas:
UÊ >ÀiÌÊ iÛi«iÌÊ*À}À>ÃÆ
UÊ / iÊ
UÊ

Ê>ÀiÌÊ"ÕÌÀi>V Ê iÌÜÀÆÊ>`]

À«À>ÌiÊ-Õ««ÀÌ°

Market Development Business Area
The Market Development Business Area is comprised of six programs:
UÊ ÌiÀ>Ì>Ê>ÀiÌ}ÆÊ
UÊ >ÀiÌÊVViÃÃÆÊ
UÊ *À`ÕVÌÊ iÛi«iÌÆ
UÊ

>Ê>ÀiÌÊ iÛi«iÌÆ

UÊ ÕÌ>Ê*iÊ iiÌiÆÊ>`]
UÊ

iÃÌVÊ>ÀiÌÊ iÛi«iÌ°

The programs combine direct-delivered activities, as well as the funding of projects in partnership with
the Government of Canada, forest industry associations and research institutions, to:
UÊ }iiÀ>ÌiÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÊvÀÊ ° °ÊÜ`Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÊÊiÝÃÌ}Ê>`ÊiiÀ}}Ê>ÀiÌÃÆ
UÊ iÃÕÀiÊ ° °ÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÊ >ÛiÊ>VViÃÃÊÌÊ>ÀiÌÃÊvÀiiÊvÀÊÀi}Õ>ÌÀÞÊ>`ÊÌ iÀÊL>ÀÀiÀÃÆÊ
UÊ LÕ`Ê>ÀiÌ«>ViÊ>Ü>ÀiiÃÃÊ>LÕÌÊ ° °ÊÜ`Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÊ>`ÊÌ iÊ ° °ÊV«>iÃÊÌ >ÌÊÃÕ««ÞÊÌ iÆÊ>`
UÊ ÃÕ««ÀÌÊÌ iÊ`iÛi«iÌÊvÊiÜÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÃ]ÊVÕ`}Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÊÕÃ}ÊÕÌ>Ê*iÊ iiÌiÊÜ`]Ê
and the development of new markets, such as wood use in the commercial sector.
International Marketing Program: The program supports the promotion of British Columbia’s wood
products internationally through:
UÊ ÌiÀ>Ì>ÊÜ`Ê«À`ÕVÌÊÌÀ>`iÃ ÜÃÆÊ
UÊ ÌiV V>Ê>`Ê«ÀÌ>ÊÃi>ÀÃÊ>`ÊÜÀÃ «ÃÆÊ
UÊ «ÀÌ>Ê>ÌiÀ>Ã]ÊLÀV ÕÀiÃ]ÊÕÌi`>ÊÌÃ]Ê>`ÊÜiLÃÌiÃÆÊ
UÊ ÀÕ}Ê>`ÛiÀÌÃ}Ê>`Ê«ÀÌ>ÊV>«>}ÃÆÊ>`]
UÊ «>ÀÌV«>Ì}ÊÊ«ÀÌ>Ê`iÃÌÀ>ÌÊ«ÀiVÌÃÊ-ÌÀiiÌÊvÊ Ài>Ã]Ê>iÛiÀÊ>`Ê`ÌÞÕÀÃivÊ
TV programs, etc.).
A key to success in international marketing is market research and market intelligence. With an increasingly
competitive and evolving global forest industry, timely market research helps identify new and evolving
market opportunities and maintain competitive product advantage. In support of marketing activities,
FII conducts ongoing research and monitoring of foreign markets for wood products and shares this
information with the sector.
Programs are cost shared with and delivered by the B.C. forest industry and their various trade associations.
Research projects tend to be managed directly by FII.
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Business activities and organizational structure

Market Access Program: The program responds to market access issues for B.C. forest products around
the world, including:
UÊ >}}ÊLÕ`}ÊÀÊwÀiÊV`iÃÊÜÌ Ê >>`>ÊÃÌ>`>À`ÃÆÊ
UÊ iÃÕÀ}Ê>ÀiÌÃÊÀiV}âiÊ ° °ÊÜ`ÊÃ«iViÃÊ>`Ê}À>`iÃÆÊ
UÊ `iÌvÞ}Ê>`ÊÛiÀV}ÊÌ>ÀvvÊÌÀ>`iÊL>ÀÀiÀÃ]ÊÃÕV Ê>ÃÊ«À`ÕVÌÊÌiÃÌ}Ê>`ÉÀÊ«À`ÕVÌÊ
>À}ÊÀiµÕÀiiÌÃÆÊ>`]
UÊ >``ÀiÃÃ}Ê« ÞÌÃ>Ì>ÀÞÊÀi}Õ>ÌÃÊ>`ÊÀiÃÌÀVÌÃ°Ê
These initiatives are typically delivered jointly on behalf of the B.C. and the Canadian forest industry
and coordinated through the Canada Wood Group.
Product Development Program: Ongoing innovation and product development is needed to maintain
B.C.’s competitive edge in foreign markets.
Through the Product Development Program, FII supports industry efforts to evolve existing products or to
develop new forest products. FII also supports technical research and product testing for market acceptance.
Projects are typically led by industry research institutions or by industry trade associations.
China Market Development Program: China’s emerging status as an economic superpower makes it a
potentially important market opportunity for B.C. forest products. Along with the United States and Japan –
B.C.’s two largest export markets – China is one of the three top-priority markets for FII activities.
Reﬂecting this priority, FII’s market development business area includes a Chinese subsidiary in Shanghai, China
with a mandate to build demand for B.C. wood products in that country. Headquartered in the Dream Home
Canada Demonstration Centre (DHC), FII Shanghai, the Canadian government, and the private sector are
working collaboratively under the “Canada Wood” brand to create opportunities for Canadian and B.C.
products in wood frame construction, landscaping, remanufacturing and value-added product sectors.
FII is leading on market research and demonstration projects, while the Canada Wood Group, a consortium of
Canadian trade associations, is dealing with building code and ﬁre code initiatives, technology transfer, training,
quality assurance and product inquiries.
A key part of FII Shanghai’s efforts involves transferring Canadian-developed wood frame technology, and
demonstrating the results of Canadian technology through projects that architects, engineers, developers,
government ofﬁcials and consumers can see, touch and otherwise experience. This initiative has led to the
construction of wood demonstration structures in Shanghai and Qingdao:
UÊ Ì iÊnnnÊÃµÕ>ÀiÊiÌÀiÊ>««ÀÝ>ÌiÞÊ£ä]äääÊÃµÕ>ÀiÊviiÌ®ÊÜ`«À`ÕVÌÃÊÃ ÜV>ÃiÊ>`Ê`iÃÌÀ>ÌÊ
ViÌÀiÆÊ
UÊ ÌÜÊÃ}iv>ÞÊÜ`vÀ>iÊ iÃ]ÊÜÊÊ

>Ê>ÃÊÛ>ÃÆÊ>`

UÊ Ü`ÌÀÕÃÃÊÀvÃÊ>ÃÃiLi`Ê>Ì«ÊÌ ÀiiÊ`ÊÜÀÃiÊ>«>ÀÌiÌÊLVÃÊÊ- >} >°
UÊ >ÊV«iÀ>ÌÛiÊ«ÀiVÌÊÜÌ Ê+7

ÊÛÛ}Ê`iÃ}Ê>`ÊÌiV }ÞÊÌÀ>ÃviÀÊÃÕ««ÀÌÊvÀÊÜ`ÌÀÕÃÃÊ

roof assembled atop low-rise apartment blocks in Qingdao.
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The primary near-term objectives are to:
UÊ iVÕÀ>}iÊLÀ>`Ê>`«ÌÊvÊÜ`ÌÀÕÃÃÊÀvÃÊÊÌ iÊÀivÕÀLÃ }ÊvÊÌiÃÊvÊÌ ÕÃ>`ÃÊvÊ`Ê
>«>ÀÌiÌÊLVÃÊqÊ>Ê>ÀiÌÊÛ>Õi`ÊÊÌ iÊ Õ`Ài`ÃÊvÊÃÊvÊ`>ÀÃÆÊ>`Ê
UÊ ÌÀ`ÕViÊÜ`ÊvÀ>iÊÌiV }ÞÊvÀÊ«ÌiÌ>ÊÕÃiÊÊÃÊvÊiÜÊÜÀÃiÊ>«>ÀÌiÌÊÕÌÃÊ
being built each year.
In the future, commercial partnerships are expected to provide technical demonstration of hybrid construction
(wood plus steel or concrete), renovation projects or the construction of multi-storey, multi-family structures.
Research and experience in China have conﬁrmed that providing technical demonstration and technical
support, combined with showcasing wood and wood-construction technologies, will be key to achieving
market development objectives in this market.
Mountain Pine Beetle Program: FII has a lead role in the B.C. government’s Mountain Pine Beetle Action Plan
with responsibilities for supporting market research, market development, product development, technical and
manufacturing research, as well as market communications associated speciﬁcally with these topics.
Projects are delivered by forest research institutes, post-secondary institutions and industry trade associations.
Given the considerable volume of wood ﬁbre impacted, FII has taken an active role in new market and new
product development by working with B.C. forest companies and international wood product purchasers to
evaluate future opportunities.
Domestic Development Program: While most of B.C.’s wood products are sold to customers outside Canada,
there are still potential growth opportunities within the country.
FII is promoting increased use and showcasing wood products in the Vancouver Convention Centre and 2010
Olympic and Paralympic Winter Games venues. This is part of a strategy to expand the use of structural and
appearance-grade wood products in new non-residential buildings throughout North America.
The Convention Centre and 2010 venues provide high-proﬁle opportunities to showcase B.C.’s wood products,
species, and innovative applications in B.C. and export markets. Strategies include identifying projects that could
use wood instead of competing products, technical support to overcome any technical barriers, and design and
engineering support.
FII supports projects that improve manufacturing technology and process engineering and help transfer this
technology to the sector within B.C. These projects are typically delivered by forest research institutes, post
secondary institutions and trade associations. Some direct investments in projects may be made in order to
showcase wood products and address technical constraints to market growth and development.

BC Market Outreach Network Program
Environmental issues are a major priority for Canadians and key markets where B.C. exports its forest products.
Customers and regulators who set policies want to ensure that the products they purchase are the right decision
for the environment and that means asking the right questions before the product is purchased, such as: does
this product come from a legal and sustainable source? Is it a green building product? How does it contribute to
combating climate change?
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Business activities and organizational structure

The BC Market Outreach Network (BCMON) is an FII program that ensures international markets have answers
to these questions. BCMON staff achieve this by:
UÊ «ÀÛ`}ÊÌiÀ>Ì>ÊLÕÞiÀÃÊ>`Ê>ÀiÌÃÊÜÌ ÊVÀi`LiÊv>VÌÃÊÌ >ÌÊ ° °ÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÊViÊvÀÊ
Üi>>}i`ÊvÀiÃÌÃÆ
UÊ VÕÌiÀ}ÊÃi>`}ÊiÛÀiÌ>ÊV>«>}ÃÊ`iÃ}i`ÊÌÊÕ`iÀiÊÌ iÊVÀi`LÌÞÊvÊ ° °ÊvÀiÃÌÊ
«ViÃÊ>`Ê«À>VÌViÃÆÊ>`]
UÊ ÌÀ}ÊÌ iÊ`iÛi«iÌÊvÊ`À>vÌÊi}Ã>ÌÊ>`Ê«ÀVÕÀiiÌÊ«ViÃÊÌ >ÌÊVÕ`Ê«>ÀÊÌ iÊyÜÊ
of B.C. forest products into a particular market.
BCMON staff achieve the program goals by:
UÊ ÜÀ}ÊÜÌ Ê`ÕÃÌÀÞÊ>ÃÃV>ÌÃ]ÊiL>ÃÃiÃÊ>`Êvi`iÀ>Ê>`Ê«ÀÛV>ÊÃÌÀiÃÊÌÊiÃÕÀiÊ>ÊVÀ`>Ìi`Ê
>`ÊÃÌÀ>Ìi}VÊ>««À>V ÊÌÊ>ÀiÌÊVÕV>ÌÃÆÊ
UÊ }>Ì iÀ}Ê>ÀiÌÊÀiÃi>ÀV ÊvÀ>ÌÊ>LÕÌÊVÕÃÌiÀÃ½ÊiÛÀiÌ>ÊVViÀÃÊÜ V ÊÃÊÕÃi`ÊÌÊÃÕ««ÀÌÊ
>VÌÛÌiÃÆ
UÊ `ÃÌÀLÕÌ}ÊvÀ>ÌÊ>ÌiÀ>Ã]ÊVÕ`}Êv>VÌÊÃ iiÌÃÊ>`Ê>ÊÕ«Ì`>ÌiÊÜiLÃÌiÊ
www.bcforestinformation.com]ÊÌÊÀiÃ«`ÊÌÊ>ÀiÌÊÃÃÕiÃÊ>`ÊV >}iÃÊÊvÀiÃÌÊ«VÞÆÊ
UÊ >ÌÌi`}Ê>ÀÊÌiÀ>Ì>ÊÌÀ>`iÊÃ ÜÃÊÌÊiÃÕÀiÊVÕÃÌiÀÃÊ>`Ê«ÌiÌ>ÊVÕÃÌiÀÃÊ >ÛiÊ
vÀ>ÌÊÊ ° °½ÃÊvÀiÃÌÃÊ>`ÊiÛÀiÌ>Ê«iÀvÀ>ViÆÊ>`]
UÊ i>`}ÊÌ iÊÃiVÌÀÊÊ}}Ê>ÀiÌÊÌÀ}ÊÌÊ`iÌvÞÊiiÀ}}ÊÃÃÕiÃÊ>`ÊÀiVi`}Ê
and implementing strategic response.
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Corporate Support
Corporate Support includes responsibility for the ﬁnancial management and control of the corporation,
information systems, human resources and performance management. Corporate services focus on internal
management and employees, as well as serving the board of directors, government and partners by ensuring
a high level of performance, accountability and adherence to government policies.
FII carries out its programs and services with 21 employees in B.C. and Shanghai, China as shown in the
following chart.

CEO
Ken Baker

VP, China Operations
Mike Hogan

VP, International Marketing
Michael Loseth

VP, Market Communications
Karen Brandt

Deputy GM

Manager,
Market Communications

Director, Mountain Pine
Beetle Program

Manager,
Market Development

Operations Manager

Manager,
Market Acceptance

Program Analyst

Marketing
Coordinator

Executice Assistant

Marketing
Coordinator

VP, Finance & Administration
Doug Greig

Manager,
Corporate Communications

Corporate
Accountant

Oﬃce Manager,
Executive Assistant

Manager,
Information Technology

Oﬃce Administrator

Oﬃce Manager,
Accountant
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Alignment with Government’s Strategic Plan

FII’s business plan is aligned with the government’s forest policies, economic development initiatives, and
strategic direction. Speciﬁcally, FII supports two of the priorities listed in the Government’s strategic plan.

To lead the way in sustainable environmental management,
with the best air and water quality, and the best ﬁsheries
management, bar none.
FII communicates B.C.’s record on sustainable forest practices to markets around the world and strengthens
relations with key stakeholders in these markets. This program uses science-based information to show that
the Province has world leading practices in terms of retaining biodiversity in forests, harvesting, and
reforestation. To maintain B.C.’s leadership in environmental management, FII coordinates the forest
industry’s response on emerging issues, such as forest certiﬁcation and green building standards.

To create more jobs per capita than anywhere else in Canada.
Maintaining strong and growing international markets for B.C. forest products is important to job growth
because more than 80% of B.C. forest products are sold to foreign customers. FII is entirely devoted to
promoting B.C. forest products around the world. Through partnerships with the federal Canada Wood Export
Program and industry trade associations, FII invests in promotional campaigns in key overseas markets. Potential
barriers to trade, such as foreign building codes that are not compatible with B.C. lumber grading or species,
are dealt with through direct contact with foreign government ofﬁcials. And FII invests in product development
to speed the introduction of new products and advanced wood technology to the marketplace.
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Business priorities

Each year FII updates business priorities to reﬂect the issues and opportunities facing the forest economy. These
priorities are used to guide investments and other business activities. Priorities align with performance measures,
but because the measures are set several years into the future, the list of measures may not explicitly reference
every priority.
In 2006/07, FII’s business priorities were a combination of mandated activities and strategies targeted to issues
and opportunities facing the industry.
Mountain Pine Beetle epidemic
B.C. is responding to an unprecedented epidemic of the Mountain Pine Beetle with a comprehensive and
integrated strategy involving several ministries and Crown agencies. In the fall of 2005 FII created a program
focused speciﬁcally on MPB-affected timber. 2006/07 was the ﬁrst full year for the program, when activities
focused on:
UÊ `iÌiÀ}Ê«ÀViÃÃ}Ê>`Ê«À`ÕVÌÊ«iÀvÀ>ViÊ«À«iÀÌiÃÊvÊ`i>`Ê«iÊÌÀiiÃÊvÀÊiÞÊÜ`Ê>`Ê
«Õ«Ê>`Ê«>«iÀÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÆ
UÊ i>Ì}Ê>ÞÊÌÀ>`iÊL>ÀÀiÀÃÊÌÊ>ÀiÌÃÊÀi>Ìi`ÊÌÊ«iÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÆ
UÊ `iÌvÞ}ÊiÜÊ>ÀiÌÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÊvÀÊiÝÃÌ}Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÆ
UÊ `iÌvÞ}ÊiÜÊ«À`ÕVÌÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÆÊ>`]
UÊ iÝÌi`}ÊvÀ>ÌÊÌÊV«iiÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÊ`iVÃÃÊ>`ÊÌÊ>Ì>Ê>ÀiÌÃÊvÀÊ>Õv>VÌÕÀi`Ê
products from beetle-attacked pine.
Coastal industry
British Columbia’s coastal forest industry has experienced a decade or more of changing market preferences,
evolving market demand, a shift in harvesting from old growth to second-growth areas, and an evolution of
manufacturing technologies and sawmilling operations. In 2006/07 FII supported preliminary work by
the industry to re-position its tree species, products and markets for wood products.
Asia Paciﬁc strategy
British Columbia has embarked on a strategic expansion of Asia Paciﬁc markets and the preparation of market
development strategies across a wide range of economic sectors. Led by the Ministry of Economic Development,
the Asia Paciﬁc Trade Council and a host of committees and volunteers, important steps are being taken to
advance British Columbia’s objectives in the Asia Paciﬁc region in concert with various federal government
departments and recent “gateway” strategies. In 2006/07 FII placed a high priority on investments that are
consistent with and support B.C.’s Asia Paciﬁc strategy and continued its extensive activities in China. FII played
a leading role in organizing a trade mission by Premier Gordon Campbell to Japan and China in November, 2006.
2010 Winter Olympics and the Vancouver Convention Centre
The 2010 Olympics and Paralympics Winter Games will focus the world’s attention on British Columbia. On
behalf of the province, FII is working to ensure that many of the games venues showcase a wide range of forest
products in structural and ﬁnishing applications. Similarly, FII is working with Vancouver Convention Centre
Expansion Ltd. to incorporate B.C. wood products throughout the expanded facility.
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Business priorities

In 2006/07 this led to the announcement by Forests and Range Minister Rich Coleman that the Richmond
Speed Skating Oval will feature an all-wood roof made from more than one million board feet of spruce-pine-ﬁr
lumber, and 19,000 sheets of plywood. Spanning a total of 6.5 acres, this unique structure will incorporate a
large component of products made from timber affected by the Mountain Pine Beetle epidemic, demonstrating
that the industry is maintaining its historical standards for high-quality wood products.
Low-cost housing
The December 2004 tsunami that struck Southeast Asia and the earthquake that devastated northern Pakistan in
the fall of 2005 triggered the B.C. forest industry’s interest in providing wood products for broad reconstruction.
FII led with testing the economics and logistics of providing wood-frame technology solutions to Indonesia,
which resulted in two ﬁrms in B.C. securing contracts in 2006 to provide a total of about 600 low-cost houses
to the region. FII and interested industry participants are using this as a point of departure in pursuing low-cost
housing solutions in other developing countries.
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Report on Performance

Risk management
In 2006/07 FII drafted a risk management framework to identify potential risks to discharging its mandate, and
strategies for mitigating those risks. The framework is based on the Province’s enterprise-wide risk management
strategy adapted to FII’s structure and business activities. Risk factors were identiﬁed for corporate, market
development, market communication, China operations, and ﬁnancial and IT services. It is expected that
the framework will be approved by the board of directors and implemented in 2007/08. In the interim,
FII management is using the framework as a guideline for managing risk factors.
External business environment: The international demand for B.C.’s forest products is inﬂuenced by
macroeconomic factors and demand in various markets. The strength of the Canadian dollar against the U.S.
dollar and the Japanese Yen – an indicator of B.C. competitiveness - and the demand for new housing in the U.S.
and Japan – an indicator of demand for wood products - are among the most important inﬂuences on exports.
All of these factors are well beyond FII’s control. However, through a forward-looking planning process, and
the annual updating of investment strategies and business priorities, FII aligns its activities to market conditions.
Through market diversiﬁcation and product development activities FII helps the forest economy reduce the risks
related to speciﬁc market and product dependencies.
Partnerships: Success in delivering FII programs depends on the willingness of other parties to propose activities
that beneﬁt the forest economy, and deliver projects that achieve the intended objectives. On the ﬁrst point, FII
reduces the risk of inappropriate or misguided proposals by seeking industry input during the annual cycle of
developing investment and business priorities. On the second point FII requires frequent and regular program
updates through a new, online compliance system introduced in 2005/06. Where projects are not on target,
FII works with its partners to resolve any issues or shortcomings.

Goals, objectives, strategies and targets
FII is a unique organization, at least in Canada. No other government has established an agency with the same
mandate and resources. Consequently, FII is uniquely placed with respect to establishing goals and objectives,
and with respect to how it crafts its strategies and targets.
With the reﬁnement of these goals, performance measures were updated to provide a more concise, higher
level statement of expectations and to make activities more easily understood by non-industry readers.
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Report on Performance

Goals, objectives and strategies
Goal 1
Diversiﬁed market opportunities
for B.C. forest products

Goal 2

Goal 3

Goal 4

B.C. positioned as a
global leader in sustainable
forest management

Collaborative delivery of
market-development activities
that optimize provincial, federal,
and private-sector contributions

An effective and wellmanaged organization

Free ﬂow to market for B.C.
forest products

Market awareness of B.C.
forest practices

Collaborative relationships
with key partners

Efﬁcient, transparent and
results-focused organization

Favourable market awareness
of B.C. forest products

B.C. positioned as global leader
in environmental forest practices

Industry input on strategy
and business practices

Fully competent and
dedicated staff

Objectives

Develop new products
and technologies

Improve cost efﬁciency and
program delivery

Strategies
Develop market strategies for
province’s Asia Paciﬁc Strategy

Gather market intelligence;
monitor news media

Remove technical and non-tariff
barriers that limit market access

Provide customers with credible
facts on B.C. forest practices

Identify and test new wood
products and market interest

Build support for B.C. as world
leader in sustainable forest
management

Increase market awareness,
acceptance and demand

Position B.C. Market Outreach
Network as a credible source
on forest practices in B.C.

Promote Canada Wood brand
Introduce new three-year China
workplan involving FII Shanghai

Defend B.C. forest products
when unfairly targeted

Annual Report 06.indd 26

Cost share projects with industry
associations, research institutes,
universities and the federal
government
Harmonize federal and provincial
administrative processes
Identify and develop options
to increase partner support
for international marketing

Continue roll-out of a rigorous
program of monitoring, auditing
and evaluating partner-delivered
projects, according to explicit
risk assessments
Ensure regular and accurate
reporting on investments and
compliance with government
and contractual requirements
Ensure staff are afforded
periodic opportunities to
formally and conﬁdentially
comment on their working
environment

Survey stakeholder views on
partnered activities

Fund R&D in the pulp and
paper and non-timber forest
products sectors
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Goal 1: Diversiﬁed market opportunities for B.C. forest products
The success of B.C.’s forest industry is largely dependent on being well informed, diverse and responsive to
customer preferences and market opportunities. The global marketplace for forest products is becoming very
competitive. Prices for B.C.’s prime product - structural-grade lumber - plummeted in the United States in 2006.
Moreover, markets are seeing an inﬂux of lower priced and lower quality products as well as wood believed to
be illegally harvested in some countries.
FII is working with its partners in a strategic and long-term way to ensure that B.C. producers:
UÊ >ÀiÊ«ÃÌi`ÊÌÊÌ>iÊ>`Û>Ì>}iÊvÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÊ>ÃÊÌ iÞÊ>ÀÃiÆ
UÊ V>ÊÀiÃ«`ÊÌÊÌ iÊV >i}iÃÊ>`ÊV >}iÃÊÊÌÀ>`Ì>Ê>ÀiÌÃÆ
UÊ vviÀÊÌ iÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÊÌ >ÌÊVÕÃÌiÀÃÊÜ>ÌÆÊ>`]Ê
UÊ >ÀiÊ>ÊÀi>LiÊÃÕÀViÊvÊÌ iÊÜÀ`½ÃÊwiÃÌÊÜ`Ê«À`ÕVÌÃ°
FII and its partners are also working to inform marketing decisions with thorough research and market
intelligence. With such information, the industry can make strategic decisions on where to target their products,
where to explore new partnerships and where the most effective business opportunities and future sales lie.
Although the United States will always remain B.C.’s primary market, diversifying markets is important to
the long-term success and prosperity of the industry. FII assesses progress in this regard by tracking the B.C.
industry’s volume and value of sales, as well as market share, in the United States, Japan, the European Union,
China and Korea.
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Report on Performance

Performance measure:
Supporting the government’s Asia Paciﬁc Strategy, developing and implementing the forest sector strategies
for each market.
2006/07 Forecast

2006/07 Actual

2007/08 Target

Implement new three-year
China work plan.

¸ Achieved.

Review and update existing
Japan strategy.

Update and expand Korea
strategy.

¸ Research completed, plan
being updated in 2007/08.

Effective implementation
of existing strategies.

Develop United States
non-residential strategy.

¸ Achieved.

Effective implementation
of existing strategies.

¸ Achieved.

2008/09 Target
Develop India strategy.
Effective implementation
of existing strategies.

2006/07 Results
s &)) AND INDUSTRY AND FEDERAL PARTNERS COMPLETED A  YEAR WORK PLAN FOR #HINA
s &)) COMPLETED TWO MAJOR RESEARCH PROJECTS IN +OREA WHICH WILL FORM A BASIS FOR UPDATING &))S +OREA STRATEGY EARLY IN  
s &)) UNDERTOOK IN DEPTH MARKET RESEARCH STUDIES IN #HINA -ALAYSIA 6IET .AM 0AKISTAN AND )NDONESIA
s &OREST INDUSTRY PARTNERS COMPLETED A NON RESIDENTIAL STRATEGY FOR THE 5NITED 3TATES
s &)) LINKED ITS ANNUAL INVESTMENTS TO &))S MARKET DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES AND THE &))  )NVESTMENT 3TRATEGY
Market development activities were successfully completed in major export markets around the world.

Highlights
FII supported the development of the wood product sections of B.C.’s Asia Paciﬁc Strategies for Korea, India,
Japan and China. FII is supporting the implementation of the wood product objectives of these strategies, and
has ensured that these activities are consistent with and compliment FII’s own market development strategies
and investments. In partnership with the Federal Canada Wood Export Program, the B.C. forest industry and the
Canada Wood Group, FII has been directly involved in the implementation of a coordinated three year work plan
for market development activities in China that focuses on:
UÊ `iÃÌÀ>ÌÊ>VÌÛÌiÃÊ«ÀÌ}ÊÌ iÊViÀV>â>ÌÊvÊÌ iÊÜ`ÊÌÀÕÃÃÊÀvÊÀiÛ>ÌÊÃÞÃÌi]Ê
`iÛi«}Ê>`Ê«ÀÌ}Ê ÞLÀ`ÊLÕ`}ÊÃÕÌÃÆ
UÊ >`ÃV>«}Ê`iÃÌÀ>ÌÊ«ÀiVÌÃÊ«ÀÌ}Ê ° °ÊÕÌ`ÀÊÜ`Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÆ
UÊ >ÀiÌÊÀiÃi>ÀV Ê«ÀiVÌÃÊÌ>À}iÌ}ÊÀiÛ>ÌÊ>VÌÛÌiÃÊÊÃiV`ÌiÀÊVÌiÃÊ>`ÊÌ>}Ê>Ê`i«Ì Ê
Ê>ÌÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÊvÀÊÜ`ÊÊÜÀÃiÊ>`ÊÜ`iÃÌÞÊ ÕÃ}ÊVÃÌÀÕVÌÆÊ>`
UÊ ÌiV V>ÊÀiÃi>ÀV ÊÜÌ ÊÌ iÊ

iÃiÊV>`iÞÊvÊÀiÃÌÀÞÊÀi}>À`}ÊiÜÊ>`ÊiÝÃÌ}Ê«À`ÕVÌÃ°Ê

UÊ Ê>ÃÊÛiÃÌi`Êf£°ÈÊÊÊ{{ÊÌ]Ê`ÕÃÌÀÞÊi`Ê>ÀiÌÊ`iÛi«iÌÊ«ÀiVÌÃÊÊ
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The non-residential strategy for the United States is designed to capitalize on the large potential for using
wood products in non-residential structures. Early implementation began in the fourth quarter, with FII and
industry funding supporting pre-launch activities in California (the ﬁrst pilot market). This initiative will build
on the successful B.C. WoodWorks! program, that promotes increased wood usage in commercial, industrial,
recreational, and educational facilities across British Columbia.
FII funded a total of 179 international marketing, product development, market access, domestic development
and Mountain Pine Beetle projects in 2006/07, with an FII investment of $10.7 million – leveraging a total project
value of $22.9 million1. These investments focused on pursing opportunities for wood product exports in the
following key export markets.

FII Investments by Market
South Korea
$412,176

Europe
$369,194

Australia/NZ
$139,279

Canada
$1,061,312

Taiwan
$34,388

Mexico
$6,154

United States
$2,875,654

Japan
$1,622,353

China
$1,626,081

All Markets
$2,555,701

Based on FII funding provided to other organizations

1

These ﬁgures include FII’s Mountain Pine Beetle Program
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Report on Performance

Performance measure:
Achieving pre-identiﬁed milestones needed to enable access to new markets, such as new building and ﬁre codes.
2006/07 Forecast

2006/07 Actual

2007/08 Target

Market access checklist
implemented to quantify and
track achievement of milestones
in China and Korea.

¸ Achieved with priorities
identiﬁed and matching
investments.

Complementary roles and
responsibilities clearly accepted
by stakeholders.

¸ Achieved with initiatives led
by industry and partners.

Demonstrated completion of
milestone objectives in market
access checklist.

2008/09 Target
Demonstrated completion of
milestone objectives in market
access checklist.

2006/07 Results
s -ARKET !CCESS PRIORITIES WERE IDENTIlED FOR #HINA AND +OREA AND &)) INVESTMENTS WERE MADE TO PURSUE THESE OBJECTIVES
s -ARKET !CCESS INITIATIVES WERE LED BY A CONSORTIUM OF FOREST INDUSTRY ASSOCIATIONS THROUGH THE #ANADA 7OOD 'ROUP lNANCIALLY
supported by FII, the Government of Canada, and the B.C. forest industry.

Highlights
Market access objectives in Korea are focused on addressing sound, ﬁre and seismic concerns in multi-storey,
multi-family structures. A Canada Wood Group ofﬁce was opened in Seoul in August 2006, and a technical
director responsible for market access activities was hired. Activities focused on building a better understanding
of these issues, developing action plans to address them, and completing initial project activities in partnership
with Korean ofﬁcials. For example, a group of Korean scientists and ﬁre ofﬁcials participated in Canada Wood
initiated shake-table seismic testing in China. Korean ofﬁcials are now drafting (in consultation with Canada
Wood) new seismic building code provisions for introduction in Korea.
Market access objectives in China focused heavily on:
UÊ Ì iÊ`iÛi«iÌÊvÊ>ÊV>Ê- >} >ÊLÕ`}ÊV`iÆ
UÊ >``ÀiÃÃ}ÊÃÃÕiÃÊ>`ÊLÌ>}ÊÀi>Ý>ÌÊÊ
UÊ Õ«`>Ì}ÊÃiÃVÊ«ÀÛÃÃÊÊ

iÃiÊwÀiÊV`iÃÊvÀÊÜ`ÊvÀ>iÊVÃÌÀÕVÌÆÊ>`]

>½ÃÊLÕ`}ÊV`i]ÊÀiV}â}ÊÌ iÊÃÌÀ}Ê«iÀvÀ>ViÊvÊ >>`>Ê

wood frame construction technology.
Milestones in each of these areas were achieved, with progress continuing on all fronts. A ﬁrst draft of the local
Shanghai building code was completed, with adoption anticipated in 2007/08. A four-country Chinese ﬁre code
initiative and project team has been struck, with collaborative efforts underway to assist China in addressing
its key ﬁre code concerns, with speciﬁc focus on wooden roof trusses (new and existing buildings), non-load
bearing wood inﬁll in steel/masonry buildings, and wood usage in hybrid construction (load bearing applications
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in conjunction with concrete and steel up to 6 storeys). In partnership with Chinese code ofﬁcials and Tongji
University, shake-table seismic testing was completed to demonstrate the performance of wood building
systems. This information is being used by China as they draft new (more favourable) code provisions for
the seismic performance for wood construction.
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Report on Performance

Performance measure:
Implementing demonstration projects to showcase B.C. wood products and wood-construction technology.
2006/07 Forecast

2006/07 Actual

Two villas completed in Shanghai.

¸ Achieved

One renovation project
in Shanghai.

¸ Achieved, with
2 projects completed

One demonstration project
in Beijing.

¸ Achieved with 1 project
completed in Qingdao

China renovation market
strategy in place.

¸ Achieved

2007/08 Target

2008/09 Target

One to two demonstration
projects completed in China.

One to two demonstration
projects completed in China.

Demonstration planning done
in Korea.

One demonstration project
complete in Korea.

2006/07 Results
s &IRE APPROVAL RECEIVED FOR $REAM (OME #ANADA #ENTRE AND VILLAS
s $REAM (OME #ANADA VILLAS COMPLETED $EC 
s 4WO ROOF RENOVATION PROJECTS COMPLETED IN 3HANGHAI 8U (UI  4ONGJI 5NIVERSITY AND ONE COOPERATIVE ROOF
renovation project with QWEB completed in Qingdao.
s #OOPERATIVE PROJECT WITH .ATIONAL &IRE )NSTITUTE ON THE DESIGN OF AN h!DDED 3TORY 2OOFv RENOVATION MODEL
for Beijing project completed in Mar, 06.
s #HINA RENOVATION MARKET STRATEGY IN PLACE
s -/5 SIGNED WITH 'UANGZHOU 'ARDEN "UREAU TO COOPERATIVELY INTRODUCE  PROMOTE "#S OUTDOOR WOOD PRODUCTS 
technology for their use in landscaping. Design work completed on ﬁrst joint demo project in Guangzhou’s Zhujiang Park.

Highlights
The DHC Demonstration Centre in Shanghai received extensive recognition in 2006/07 as an attractive and viable
building solution for China. Two developers built exact or similar replicas in Shanghai and Changsha, Hunan
Province. Recently obtained ﬁre code approvals were a major step towards further promotion of commercial
wood structures and the use of glulam.
DHC Villas were completed during the year and are now being used as demonstration facilities and to run tests
proving energy efﬁciency beneﬁts and local climate performance.
FII Shanghai’s Xu Hui District Roof Renovation Project led to the system’s acceptance by Shanghai authorities,
and Xu Hui District’s general contractor signed a memorandum of cooperation committing to using the
Canadian wood truss rooﬁng system in all future projects.
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A cooperative roof renovation project in conjunction with the Quebec Wood Export Bureau (QWEB) and
a commercial developer in Qingdao government was completed successfully. The Qingdao coastal region
holds signiﬁcant promise for use of wood in low-density and low-rise housing.
Renovation of a building at Tongji University Design Institute started in mid-March 2007. The project
demonstrates a China-speciﬁc design option that will be widely applicable in many markets around the
country. Tongji’s status as a top Architectural & Engineering School lends credibility to the system and its use.
A joint project with the Tianjin Fire Research Institute has produced a design for adding an extra story of living
space and sloped roof in wood, which addresses local ﬁre code requirements and after passing technical reviews,
will form FII Shanghai’s ﬁrst hybrid renovation demo project in 07/08.
Research conducted on China’s current and future market potential for low-rise housing indicates signiﬁcant
opportunity in this segment, (expected to peak at 4.9 million home units in 2010 and level off at 3.3 to
3.6 million home units by 2020) which is a target for hybrid wood frame construction systems.
FII Shanghia’s MOU with Guangzhou Garden Bureau will see the two organizations work cooperatively
on the introduction and promotion of pressure treated wood products from coastal and interior B.C. and
the technology for using them in landscaping applications in South China. Designs for the ﬁrst cooperative
demonstration project inside Guangzhou’s Zhujiang Park were completed 2006/07 and construction is scheduled
to begin in July 2007.
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Report on Performance

Performance measure:
Implementing a program to promote wood use in non-residential structures.
2006/07 Forecast

2006/07 Actual

2007/08 Target

2008/09 Target

Develop US nonresidential strategy.

¸ Achieved

Implement US nonresidential program.

Evaluate US nonresidential program.

Provide technical resources to
promote wood use/showcase
wood in B.C.’s Olympic facilities.

¸ Achieved

Designs for Olympic venues to
incorporate B.C. wood products.

B.C. wood products showcased
in Olympic venues.

2006/07 Results
s )NDUSTRY STRATEGY DEVELOPED IMPLEMENTATION STARTED IN #ALIFORNIA
s #OORDINATED BY THE #ANADIAN 7OOD #OUNCIL &)) FUNDED TECHNICAL RESOURCES TO LEVERAGE INCREASED WOOD USAGE IN  /LYMPIC VENUES

Highlights
Technical resources have supported Olympic ofﬁcials and Olympic venue architects/designers, engineers, and
project managers to explore wood usage in 2010 Olympic venues. Efforts to date have resulted in increased
speciﬁcation of wood for appearance grade ﬁnishing applications in the expanded Vancouver Trade and
Convention Centre, and the speciﬁcation of a wood rooﬁng solution for the Richmond Speed Skating Oval.
The innovative new technology and design selected for the Richmond Oval roof (the ﬁrst of its kind) will have
long span glulam curved beams, supporting waved wooden roof panels. The Oval roof will use over 1 million
board feet of B.C. dimension lumber, and 19,000 sheets of B.C. structural plywood.
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Performance measure:
Implementing the new Mountain Pine Beetle Program.
2006/07 Forecast
Fund projects proposed by
industry associations, Forintek
and UB.C.
Self-initiate work to ﬁll
gaps identiﬁed by involved
stakeholders.

2006/07 Actual

2007/08 Target

¸ Achieved

Continued collaborative
program of investments.

¸ Achieved

Effective communication of
the results of investments.

2008/09 Target
Independent evaluation of the
effectiveness of the program.

2006/07 Results
s &)) FUNDED  INDUSTRY LED PROJECTS FOR A TOTAL OF  MILLION
s &)) PURSUED TECHNICALMANUFACTURING AND MARKET DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS TO ADDRESS ISSUES  PURSUE OPPORTUNITIES FOR -0" lBRE

Highlights
FII’s Mountain Pine Beetle Program delivers the Mountain Pine Beetle (MPB) Wood Products Research Program
as a component of the Province of B.C.s Mountain Pine Beetle Action Plan. FII invested in industry-led projects
focused on four key areas of priority activity as illustrated in the following chart.

2006/07 Mountain Pine Beetle Investment by Activity Area

Market Development
$229,342

Product Development
$619,988

Fibre Quality
$275,940

Manufacturing Process
$476,475
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Report on Performance

In addition to these projects, FII initiated direct-delivered projects to address key industry needs and explore
potential opportunities. Examples include:
UÊ } Ã«ii`ÊÃ>ÜÊ}À>`iÊÕÌÌÕÀÊ>`ÊÀiVÛiÀÞÊÃÌÕ`ÞÊÊÊÌÀ>ÊV«>À}Ê`Ê}ÀiÞÃÌ>}iÊ* ÊwLÀiÊ
relative to a green Lodgepole Pine ﬁbre control sample was conducted in November 2006 with the results
published in April 2007. This represented the ﬁrst statistically sound quantiﬁcation of lumber yields from
this type of ﬁbre to assist in the assessment of shelf-life for MPB logs.
UÊ ÌiÀ>ÌÛiÊ«À`ÕVÌÊ>Õv>VÌÕÀ}ÊvÀÊÜÊ}À>`iÊ}ÀiÞÃÌ>}iÊ* ®ÊÊÊÓääÈÉäÇÊÃÌÕ`ÞÊvÊÌ iÊiVVÃÊ
for selling low grade MPB four-sided rectangular cants to China for remanufacturing was completed.
UÊ

>LÀ>ÌÊÜÌ ÊÌ iÊ

iÃiÊV>`iÞÊvÊÀiÃÌÀÞÊÊ i}ÊqÊ7ÀÊÃÊ}}ÊÌÊ>ÃÃiÃÃÊÌ iÊ`ÕÀ>LÌÞÊ

characteristics of glue-laminated timbers constructed with pressure treated laminating stock for potential
use in outdoor applications in the developing Chinese landscaping industry.
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Goal 2: B.C. positioned as a global leader in sustainable
forest management
Forest product customers around the world are increasingly looking for assurance from their suppliers that
the products they purchase come from legal and sustainably managed forests. As a result, B.C. must be well
positioned as a global leader in sustaining environmental values and forest resources.
The province’s commitment to sustainable forest management represents a signiﬁcant advantage as customers
are increasingly factoring environmental practices into purchasing decisions. FII is committed to providing a broad
audience, especially forest product customers in the U.S., China, Japan and Europe, with accurate and factual
information about forest management in B.C. to support their purchasing decisions.
Surveying customers, inﬂuencers and decision makers is basic to understanding customers’ preferences
and measuring the effectiveness of FII’s activities. FII conducts customer surveys, in partnership with other
organizations, to determine trends in the marketplace, customer perspectives and the effectiveness of market
communications materials. The results of these surveys guide activities led by BCMON staff. In addition,
FII regularly surveys the forest sector to determine the usefulness of the Network’s activities and
recommendations for action.
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Performance measure:
Extent to which B.C. is seen as a reliable supplier of forest products from sustainably managed forests.
2006/07 Forecast
Survey Customers

2006/07 Actual
¸ Achieved

2007/08 Target
Implement recommendations
from 2005/06 survey of
international customers.

2008/09 Target
Survey Customers

2006/07 Results
s  OF CUSTOMERS FEEL THAT CHOOSING PRODUCTS FROM "# #ANADA IS A GOOD CHOICE FOR THE ENVIRONMENT
(This performance measure is based on biennial surveys of approximately 140 customers, conducted by an independent research ﬁrm).

Performance measure:
Effectiveness of the BCMON program at communicating and advocating for the B.C. forest sector.
2006/07 Forecast
Implement recommendations
from 2005/06 survey of
stakeholders.

2006/07 Actual
¸ Achieved

2007/08 Target
Survey stakeholders.

2008/09 Target
Implement recommendations
from 2007/08 survey.

2006/07 Results
s )MPLEMENTED RECOMMENDATIONS FROM  SURVEY OF STAKEHOLDERS WHICH INCLUDED ESTABLISHING A MARKET
acceptance advisory group.
(Data for the above performance measure is collected through biennial surveys of approx. 50 key stakeholders.
Research is conducted by an independent research ﬁrm).
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'OAL  #OLLABORATIVE DELIVERY OF MARKET DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES THAT
optimize provincial, federal and private-sector contributions
Collaboration and a culture of innovation are essential to the long-term competitiveness of B.C.’s forest sector.
FII works in partnership with other government agencies, academic institutions and the forest sector to improve
the level of co-ordination with key partners, establishing greater cohesion within the forest sector and increasing
the level of partner participation in FII initiatives.
Maintaining the level of collaboration and partnered investments is critical to international market research
and implementation strategies.
FII’s objectives routinely including maintaining or increasing the level of partner support for FII-funded projects
and initiatives.
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Performance measure:
The demonstrated willingness of key partners to commit ﬁnancial resources to joint initiatives.
2006/07 Forecast
In-market development
ACTIVITIES WITH INDICATOR OF 
contribution from industry and
the federal government.

2006/07 Actual
¸ Achieved

2007/08 Target
Continued partner investments
in joint initiatives.

2008/09 Target
Continued partner investments
in joint initiatives.

2006/07 Results
s #ONTRIBUTIONS FROM OTHER FUNDING PARTNERS WAS  EXCEEDING &))S LEVERAGING TARGET

Highlights
FII continues to place a high priority on collaborative project delivery, with leveraged contributions from both the
federal government and the B.C. forest industry. FII’s target of achieving at least 50% cost sharing from project
partners was exceeded. This demonstrates a strong support for project activities and market development
priorities from both the private sector and other levels of government.

Source of Funding

BC Forest Industry (23%)

Contributions

FII

$ 10.8 Million

Federal Government

$ 6.9 Million

BC Forest Industry

$ 5.2 Million

Total

$ 22.9 Million

Federal Government (30%)

FII (47%)

Based on activities delivered by organizations partially funded by FII
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Performance measure:
Level of qualitative support for FII’s collaborative efforts with partners.
2006/07 Forecast
Implement recommendations
from 05/06 partner survey.

2006/07 Actual
¸ Achieved

2007/08 Target
Survey partners.

2008/09 Target
Implement recommendations
from 07/08 partner survey.

2006/07 Results
s )MPLEMENTED RECOMMENDATIONS FROM  PARTNER SURVEY

Highlights
In early 2006 Decima Research reported its ﬁndings after surveying key stakeholders, partners and clients
regarding the administration of FII’s funding programs, the importance of speciﬁc activities, such as tradeshows,
and support for various programs and services. Approximately 50 respondents had been asked to participate in
the survey, and the ﬁndings indicated:
UÊ ÛiÀ>ÊÀ>Ì}ÃÊÜiÀiÊÛiÀÞÊ}`ÊvÀÊÃÌÊ«>ÀÌV«>ÌÃÆ
UÊ «À}À>ÃÊÜiÀiÊ`iÃVÀLi`Ê>ÃÊVÀi`Li]ÊÜiÊ`iÃ}i`Ê>`ÊÜiÊ>>}i`ÆÊ>`
UÊ ÃÌ>vvÊÜiÀiÊÀiÃ«iVÌi`Ê>`ÊV>LÀ>ÌÛi°
The survey highlighted that improvements could be made in program administration, industry communication,
and strengthening industry relations. In response FII has:
UÊ ÃÌÀi}Ì ii`ÊÌÃÊÃiÛiiLiÀÊ`ÕÃÌÀÞÊ>`ÛÃÀÞÊVÌÌiiÊÌÊ«ÀÛ`iÊ}Õ`>ViÊÊÃÌÀ>Ìi}Þ]Ê
«À}À>}Ê>`ÊÛiÃÌiÌÊ«ÀÀÌiÃÆ
UÊ iÃÌ>LÃ i`Ê>Ê>ÀiÌÊ>VVi«Ì>ViÊ>`ÛÃÀÞÊ}ÀÕ«ÊÌÊ>}ÊÌ iÊ

" Ê«À}À>ÊÜÌ Ê`ÕÃÌÀÞÊ«ÀÀÌiÃÆ

UÊ `iÛi«i`Ê>ÊVÀ«À>ÌiÊVÕV>ÌÊÃÌÀ>Ìi}ÞÊÌ >ÌÊÃÊÕ«`>Ìi`Ê>Õ>ÞÊ>`ÊvVÕÃiÃÊÊ`ÕÃÌÀÞÊ
>`ÊÃÌ>i `iÀÊVÕV>ÌÆ
UÊ ÃÌÀi>i`Ê«À}À>Ê>`ÃÌÀ>ÌÊÌ ÀÕ} ÊÌi}À>ÌÊÜÌ Êvi`iÀ>Ê>`ÃÌÀ>ÌÛiÊÀiµÕÀiiÌÃÊ
>`Ê>ÊiÊ>««V>ÌÊ>`ÊÀi«ÀÌ}ÊÃÞÃÌiÆÊ>`]
UÊ ÃÌ>ÀÌi`Ê>Ê}}Ê«ÀViÃÃÊvÊÀiÊiÝÌiÃÛiÊ`ÕÃÌÀÞÊÕÌÀi>V °
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Report on Performance

Goal 4: An effective and well-managed organization
FII is a highly focused and dynamic organization that maintains ﬂexibility to respond to emerging forest sector
needs while maintaining low overhead and operating expenses.
FII is committed to the development and implementation of sound business practices incorporating sound
ﬁnancial controls, a performance management framework and a monitoring, audit and evaluation program
built on a comprehensive risk-assessment strategy, all developed in accordance with government policies
and guidelines.
FII’s continuing objectives are to ensure that:
UÊ Ì iÊÀ}>â>ÌÊÃÊivwViÌ]ÊÌÀ>Ã«>ÀiÌ]Ê>`ÊÀiÃÕÌÃvVÕÃi`ÆÊ>`]Ê
UÊ ÃÌ>vvÊ>ÀiÊvÕÞÊV«iÌiÌÊ>`Ê`i`V>Ìi`ÊÌÊÌ iÊV«>Þ½ÃÊÃÕVViÃÃ°
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Performance measure:
Funding recipient and FII staff compliance with comprehensive and robust policy and planning framework.
2006/07 Forecast
Compliant internal and external
ﬁnancial audit reports.

2006/07 Actual
¸ Achieved

2007/08 Target

2008/09 Target

Compliant internal and external
ﬁnancial audit reports.

Compliant internal and external
ﬁnancial audit reports.

2006/07 Results
In 2006/07 the following internal audits were carried out:
FII (Vancouver)
1. Computer Controls Audit
2. Recipient Project Evaluation and Selection Audit
 4RAVEL %XPENSE !UDIT
4. Contracts audit

FII (Shanghai)
1. Government Compliance Audit
A #OMPLIANCE WITH #HINESE INTERNATIONAL CASH RECEIPT AND
payment rules and regulations
B #OMPLIANCE WITH #HINESE EMPLOYMENT LAWS AND REGULATIONS
C #OMPLIANCE WITH #HINESE CORPORATE LAWS AND REGULATIONS
D #OMPLIANCE WITH #HINESE TAXATION LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Highlights
The internal audits identiﬁed recommendations to management which have been incorporated into the April
2007 updates to the policies and procedures manuals. External audits gave rise to clean audit opinions on both
the FII (Shanghai) ﬁnancial statements and the FII (Vancouver) ﬁnancial statements.
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Performance measure:
Degree of staff commitment to the organization.
2006/07 Forecast

2006/07 Actual

2007/08 Target

2008/09 Target

Implement recommendations
from 2005/06 staff satisfaction
survey.

¸ Achieved. The staff survey
was completed in mid-2006.

Staff satisfaction survey.

Implement recommendations
from staff satisfaction survey.

Minimal staff turnover.

Three staff left FII employment
during the year.

Minimal staff turnover.

Minimal staff turnover.

2006/07 Results
The staff survey was completed in mid-2006. Based on the results, the following actions were implemented:
s
DEVELOPMENT OF AN %XECUTIVE 4EAM #HARTER WHICH LATER IN THE YEAR EVOLVED INTO AN ALL ENCOMPASSING STAFF TEAM CHARTER
s
IMPLEMENTATION OF REGULAR EXECUTIVE MEETINGS AND ALL STAFF MEETINGS AND
s
ENGAGEMENT OF AN EXPERT CONSULTANT TO PROVIDE TEAM COACHING TO THE &)) %XECUTIVE

Highlights
In 2005/06 FII staff focused on establishing good relations with a wide variety of stakeholders in industry,
governments, academia, and elsewhere. As mentioned above, the positive results were evident in a survey
of those stakeholders done in early 2006. In 2006/07 it was time to assess opportunities for improvement in
how FII staff work together. Through input to an independent consulting ﬁrm, employees conﬁrmed that they
understood and were committed to FII’s objectives, had the skills and resources needed to deliver FII’s programs,
and believed they were making a positive difference for British Columbia. The also conﬁrmed that they worked
well together and enjoyed their work. However, they said they felt their work was not adequately recognized,
and that communication by the executive and across program areas needed to be improved.
As summarized above, a number of actions were taken to signiﬁcantly improve internal communications.
The next internal staff opinion survey will undertaken in 2007/08.
Three staff left FII in 2006/07 for differing reasons that included:
UÊ ÕÌ}ÀÜ}Ê>Ê«ÃÌÊÊ>ÊÃÌÕ>ÌÊÜ iÀiÊÌ iÀiÊÜ>ÃÊÊÀÊvÀÊ>`Û>ViiÌÆ
UÊ «Ì}ÊvÀÊ«>ÀÌÌiÊi«ÞiÌÊiÃiÜ iÀiÆÊ>`
UÊ VVÕ`}ÊÌ >ÌÊ>ÊiÜÞÊVÀi>Ìi`Ê«ÃÌÊÜ>ÃÊÌÊ>Ê}`ÊwÌÊ>vÌiÀÊ>°
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Management discussion and analysis

In 2006/07 FII received its ﬁrst Shareholder’s Letter of Expectation (SLE) late in the year. Emanating from the
Minister of Forests and Range, the SLE effectively replaced the Administration Agreement with the ministry,
by which FII’s mandate had been speciﬁed since the company was created. The Minister’s direction gave
FII somewhat greater latitude in developing and implementing its suite of market development and market
communications programs. Coincidentally, the scope of FII’s Agreement with the ministry was narrowed to cover
the technicalities of funding from the Province, along with related ﬁscal controls. In particular, the SLE directed FII
staff to participate in reviewing the composition of the board of directors and to review FII’s cost-sharing policies
related to funding the work of other organizations. Neither of those initiatives was begun by year-end.
FII began the year expecting to spend a total of $27.520 million. In fact, expenditures totalled $24.430 million.
Payments ﬂowing to other organizations based on FII’s annual call for proposals totalled $10.8 million, or 44% of
FII’s total expenditures. Through those payments FII shouldered 47% of the total cost of the relevant cost-shared
projects, the remainder being contributed by the federal government and the funding recipients themselves.
In promoting the use of B.C. wood products in 2010 Olympics-related venues, FII discharged its remaining
obligation to the expanded Vancouver Convention Centre, and paid two-thirds of its $1.5 million commitment
towards the unique all-wood roof for the Richmond speed skating oval. The balance is expected to be paid out
when the roof is completed in mid-2007.
FII’s funding recipients ultimately spent $1.07 million less than was committed to them at the beginning of the
year. This continued a pattern of under-spending by trade associations, with the largest factor being a delayed
start to a new program by the Wood Products Council to promote wood in non-residential structures in the
United States. That program is now expected to get underway in 2007. In addition, several trade associations
found that their internal human resource capacity, and their internal ﬁnancial resources, were insufﬁcient to
support delivery of their full planned programs. To some extent, this problem should be alleviated in 2007/08
because FII and the Canada Wood Export Program have both increased the amount they will allow for
administration of activities delivered by funding recipients.
In the Mountain Pine Beetle Program, FII spending was $395,000 (or 15%) less than planned, primarily because
early experience indicated it would be of little value to proceed with certain product trials, and because a
research project with the Chinese Academy of Forestry was delayed. In addition, the net cost of FII’s ﬁrst
mill recovery study was reduced through sale of the lumber produced in the milling.
Spending in the market communications program was $1.216 million less than originally planned, primarily
because FII funding was not requested or needed for four major initiatives that were anticipated at the
beginning of the year, namely:
UÊ «ÀÌÊvÊÌ iÊ ÃÌÀVÊV>ÃÌ>Ê>`ÕÃiÊ«>Æ
UÊ >Ê>««}Ê«ÀiVÌÊÜÌ ÊÌ iÊ7À`Ê7`iÊÕ`ÊvÀÊ >ÌÕÀiÆ
UÊ º}ÀiiÊLÕ`}»Ê«ÀÌÊÊÌ iÊ1Ìi`Ê-Ì>ÌiÃÆÊ>`]
UÊ >Ê}L>ÊÃÌÕ`ÞÊvÊÃÕÃÌ>>LiÊvÀiÃÌÊ>>}iiÌ°
Spending by FII Shanghai was down by $844,000 relative to the budget at the start of the year, largely because
the company delayed the start-up of an ofﬁce in Beijing, an anticipated “hybrid” demonstration project did not
materialize, and consumer-level promotion was deferred.
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Management discussion and analysis

Looking ahead
For 2007/08, FII anticipates substantially the same level of funding from the Province. FII will introduce a
new Value Added Program with an initial funding level of $1 million per year, meaning that the budget for
existing programming will be reduced. This will be accomplished by returning the market communications
program to its historic budget level of about $2.8 million, and reducing direct-delivery activities in the market
development program by about $1 million. The amount available to fund the work of other organizations will
remain virtually unchanged.
Even though it is a very small organization, FII has implemented the full ﬁscal rigor that one expects in a
government agency, and has implemented a full suite of internally and externally focused policies that have
been ﬁne-tuned through experience. FII Shanghai has similarly adopted business controls and policies that
meet not only the norm within the B.C. government, but also the standards that are unique to China.
Since nearly half of FII’s budget is annually committed to fund the work that other organizations propose, the
company is always at risk that they will not deliver what they set out to do. That can be because circumstances
in the market place change through the year, triggering a change in priorities. Or it can be because the other
organizations ﬁnds they do not have the human or ﬁnancial capacity to complete what they had planned. The
capacity problem should be alleviated somewhat for 2007/08 because, as mentioned above, FII and the Canada
Wood Export Program have agreed to pay a higher amount for administration of projects undertaken by the
funding recipients.
Nevertheless, the fact of directing nearly half of its budget to other organizations always puts FII at risk of not
achieving (albeit indirectly) the intended milestones or objectives. To minimize surprises in under-spending by
other organizations, FII staff closely monitor their evolving work plans through the year, and frequently re-proﬁle
forecasts for the balance of the year.
In the broader context, like any organization FII faces a number of factors that put its success at risk. A concerted
effort was made in 2006/07 to identify those risks, and measures that can be taken to mitigate them. A formal
risk management plan was completed, and will serve as a touchstone to guide FII policies and procedures.
Perhaps the greatest risk for FII lies with the potential for staff turnover. With only 15 employees in British
Columbia at year-end (one position being vacant), and ﬁve direct employees in Shanghai, FII is a very small
organization, in which there are no redundancies. Every position is unique, so that if anyone leaves, there
is virtually no internal capacity to ﬁll the gap. Nor is there much opportunity for anyone to advance as their
knowledge and skill sets improve. Finally, the fact that FII is funded only on a year-to-year basis can be
unsettling to some employees, as it certainly is for some staff in organizations that rely heavily on FII funding.
The exposure to potential staff turnover is mitigated by proactively enabling and encouraging every employee
to expand his or her scope, to inter-relate with a wide variety of stakeholders and learn from them, and to
participate in activities that are not strictly within each position’s formal scope. Nevertheless, the company is
certain to suffer temporary set-backs with the occasional departure of staff who have out-grown their positions.
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In summary, FII has matured signiﬁcantly since it was created four years ago, with its priorities and strategies
being developed through detailed consultation with federal ofﬁcials and numerous senior industry
representatives. In the spirit of openness, co-operation, and pursuing common goals, FII takes considerable
pride in continuing to be a substantial catalyst for the work of other organizations, and in drawing upon its
internal expertise to take the lead where that is appropriate.
Financial information
Capital expenditures for the year ending March 31, 2007 are shown in the following table.

FII Capital Expenditures
for the period ending March 31 2007

1
2
3
4

Furniture for Villa A and Villa B at Dream Home China
New Servers located at the Vancouver and Prince George Offices
New Japan Trade Show Booth
Miscellaneous Laptop computers, printers and other office furniture

95,800
123,600
248,600
61,000
32,070

Total Capital Expenditures for the year

529,000
500,070

Capital spending decisions are driven by the following:
a. Project requirements
b. Tradeshow strategies
c. China demonstration projects
d. Office administration requirements
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Management discussion and analysis

Year-over-year ﬁnancial data are summarized in the following table:
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Statement of Funding and Expenditures By Program
Comparison to Budget and Prior Years

&UNDING
2ECEIPTS 0ROVINCE OF "#
)NTEREST )NCOME
4OTAL &UNDING
%XPENDITURES
)NTERNATIONAL -ARKETING
#HINA -ARKET $EVELOPMENT
-OUNTAIN 0INE "EETLE
"# -ARKET /UTREACH .ETWORK
#ORPORATE 3UPPORT
2ESEARCH
!MORTIZATION
4OTAL %XPENDITURES
%XCESS OF &UNDING /VER %XPENDITURES

#URRENT 9EAR
 MONTHS ENDED
-ARCH  

#URRENT 9EAR
/RIGINAL "UDGET

0RIOR 9EAR
 MONTHS ENDED
-ARCH  

0RIOR 9EAR
 MONTHS ENDED
-ARCH  
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4RANSFER FROM #ONTRIBUTED 3URPLUS
2ETAINED %ARNINGS END OF THE YEAR

0RIOR 9EAR
 MONTHS ENDED
-ARCH  








 






Notes:
1) International Marketing: Recipients of project funding under this program area have under spent their budgeted funding by $1.07M. FII also deferred 2 third party
program reviews of Japanese funded projects, as the funding recipients themselves had initiated reviews of their activities and market research into new priorities. FII will
await completion of this work so it can be factored into any program reviews conducted. FII budgeted to complete a new Korea market development strategy, instead,
FII completed planned market research in Korea during the ﬁscal year, and deferred costs of strategy update/development until 07/08 so that it could complete the
strategy update/development based on the completed market research intelligence. FII budgeted to deliver training in Indonesia, to support commercial orders for
disaster reconstruction housing. While some training was provided (linked to commercial orders), the full amount of training budgeted was not required and as such
the budget was under spent.
2) Mountain Pine Beetle: Savings on the FII led mill trial were achieved, as commercial value was received for the lumber products produced (the mill partner sold the
product for FII) which off-set budgeted costs and resulted in an overall under spending. Funding budgeted for product trials were cancelled, as the economic analysis on
the ﬁrst product trial demonstrated that the economic potential was limited for the low cost cant remanufacturing applications ﬁrst envisaged. Further trials were viewed
to not have sufﬁcient commercial potential to warrant proceeding. A major research project with the Chinese Academy of Forestry was delayed due to product sourcing
challenges; as a result only 50% of the project (and cost) was incurred during the ﬁscal year, the balance will be completed and paid in 07/08.
3) BC Market Outreach Network: Cancellation of the Green Building Marketing Campaign and a reduced Tradeshow Strategy accounted for the underspending
in this program area.
4) China Market Development: Reduced spending in the areas of Events and China Wide Marketing, and the fact that a budgeted Hybrid Renovation Project
and the opening of the Beijing Ofﬁce were delayed contributed to an $800K shortfall in spending to budget.
5) Amortization costs are offset by deferred income funded in previous years and as a result requires no budget allocation.
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Statement of Management Responsibility
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Report of the Auditor General of British Columbia
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Financial Statements
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Balance Sheet
(in 000’s)

As at March 31

2007

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Restricted cash held in trust (note 4)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Program advances (note 5)

Dream Home China (note 6)
Capital assets (Note 7)

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 8)
Restricted funds held in trust (note 4)
Program payables (note 5)
Due to the Province of British Columbia (note 9)

Capital lease
Deferred revenue (note 10)

Shareholders's equity
Share capital (note 11)
Contributed surplus (note 12)
Retained earnings

2006

5,833
390
210
461
0-

1,456
221
349
466

6,894

2,492

3,767
889

4,072
942

11,550

7,506

1,908
390
714
3,882

1,281
667
614

6,894

2,562

4,656

4,944

4,656

4,944

-

-

-

-

11,550

7,506

Commitments (note 13)
On behalf of the Board

Director

Director

The accompanying notes and supplementary schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Statement of Operations and Retained Earnings
(in 000’s)

For the year ended March 31

2007

Revenue
Contribution from the Province of British Columbia

2006

24,430

22,050

24,430

22,050

15,354
2,157
2,211

14,575
1,550
1,439

19,722

17,564

BC Market Outreach Network

2,548

2,496

Corporate Support

1,236

1,394

924

652

24,430

22,106

Program costs
Market Development Programs
Market Development
China Market Development
Mountain Pine Beetle
Total Market Development Programs

Amortization

Excess of revenue over expenditures

-

(56)

Transfer from Contributed Surplus (Note 12)

-

56

Retained earnings end of the year

-

-

The accompanying notes and supplementary schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Statement of Cash Flow
(in 000’s)

For the year ended March 31
Cash flows used in operating activities:
Excess of revenue over expenditures
Items not involving cash:
Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of Dream Home China lease

Changes in non-cash working capital

Cash flows from investing activities:
Dream Home China construction costs
Purchase of capital assets

Cash flows from financing activities:
Decrease in contributed surplus
Repayment of capital lease
Change in deferred revenue

2007

2006

-

-

582
342

652
-

924

652

4,307

52

5,231

704

(37)
(529)

(500)
(419)

(566)

(919)

(288)

(56)
(4)
268

(288)

208

Increase in cash during the year

4,377

(7)

Cash beginning of year

1,456

1,463

Cash end of year

5,833

1,456

The accompanying notes and supplementary schedule are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Schedule of Expenditures by Business Segment
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2006
(tabular amounts in $000s

1) Nature of business
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd. (the Company), was incorporated on March 31, 2003 under the laws
of British Columbia. A board of directors, all appointed by the government of British Columbia governs
the Company.
Market Development Program - uses project funding and partnerships with the Government of Canada,
forest industry associations and research institutions, to:
UÊ >Ì>Ê>`ÊVÀi>ÌiÊ««ÀÌÕÌiÃÊvÀÊ ° °ÊÜ`Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÊÊiÝÃÌ}Ê>`ÊiiÀ}}Ê>ÀiÌÃÆ
UÊ iÃÕÀiÊ ° °ÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÃÊ >ÛiÊ>VViÃÃÊÌÊ>ÀiÌÃÊvÀiiÊvÀÊÀi}Õ>ÌÀÞÊ>`ÊÌ iÀÊL>ÀÀiÀÃÆÊ
UÊ iÃÕÀiÊLÕÞiÀÃ]ÊVÃÕiÀÃ]Ê`iÃ}iÀÃ]ÊLÕ`iÀÃ]Ê`iÛi«iÀÃÊ>`Ê>ÀV ÌiVÌÃÊÜÊ>LÕÌÊ ° °ÊÜ`Ê
«À`ÕVÌÃÊ>`ÊÌ iÊ>ÞÊ«ÃÌÛiÊvi>ÌÕÀiÃÊÌ iÞÊLÀ}ÊÌÊÜ`vÀ>iÊVÃÌÀÕVÌÊ>`ÊÌiÀÀÊwÃ }ÆÊ
UÊ ÃÕ««ÀÌÊÌ iÊ`iÛi«iÌÊvÊÛ>ÌÛiÊiÜÊvÀiÃÌÊ«À`ÕVÌÃ]ÊVÕ`}Ê«À`ÕVÌÃÊÕÃ}Ê«iÊ >ÀÛiÃÌi`Ê
vÀÊÕÌ>Ê«iÊLiiÌi>ÌÌ>Vi`ÊvÀiÃÌÃÆÊ>`]
UÊ «ÀÛ`iÊ>ÀiÌÃÊ>`Ê>Õ`iViÃÊÜÌ ÊvÀ>ÌÊÊÌ iÊ«À«iÀÌiÃÊ>`ÊµÕ>ÌiÃÊvÊ ° °½ÃÊ«ÀiiÀÊvÀiÃÌÊ
products as well as the B.C. companies that supply them.
BC Market Outreach Network Program (BCMON) - is an in-house program that provides international
buyers and others with credible facts to document that BC Forest products come from well-managed forests
and are environmentally superior to other competing products.
2) Signiﬁcant accounting policies
The ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles. Signiﬁcant accounting policies followed in the preparation of these ﬁnancial statements are:
a) Consolidation
In 2004, the Company incorporated FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary
registered under the laws of the People’s Republic of China. The company was required so that
business can be carried on in China. There are restrictions imposed on the distribution of earnings
and other transactions with the foreign subsidiary and hence it has not been fully consolidated in
these ﬁnancial statements. However these ﬁnancial statements reﬂect all the transactions of the
subsidiary during the year.
b) Construction in Progress
Costs incurred in the development and construction of the Dream Home China project are deferred and
will be amortized as lease payments over the term of the lease once construction has been completed.
Pre-development costs incurred prior to the approval of the project were expensed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2006
(tabular amounts in $000s

c) Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost and amortization is being calculated on the straight-line basis
using the following rates:
Computer Equipment

3 years

Computer Software

2 years

Furniture and Equipment

5 years

Leasehold Improvements

Term of Lease

Trade Show Booths

3 years

Website development Costs

2 years

Assets costing less than $1,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition.
d) Revenue recognition
Contributions from the Province of British Columbia are for speciﬁc purposes and as such are deferred
and recognized as revenue as the expenses are incurred.
e) Foreign currency translation
Any foreign currency transactions are translated into Canadian dollars at the rate of exchange in effect
at the transaction date.
Any foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are stated using the prevailing rate
of exchange at the balance sheet date.
f) Use of estimates
The preparation of ﬁnancial statement in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
and disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the ﬁnancial statements. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.
g) Income Taxes
The Company is exempt from federal and provincial income taxes.
3) Financial instruments
At March 31, 2007, the company’s ﬁnancial instruments includes cash, accounts receivable, amount due to the
Province of British Columbia, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and program payables. The fair values
of the company’s ﬁnancial instruments approximate carrying amounts. It is management’s opinion that the
company is not exposed to signiﬁcant interest, currency or credit risks arising from these ﬁnancial instruments.
4) Restricted cash held in trust
During the year the company’s Market Communications Program entered into a joint venture agreement with
members of the “Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certiﬁcation” (PEFC), an organization promoting
an internationally credible framework for forest certiﬁcation schemes and initiatives in countries around the
world. In conjunction with this effort, the company and its subsidiary, FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd agreed
to ﬁnancially administer the moneys contributed to the program by the joint venture partners.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2006
(tabular amounts in $000s

5) Program advances and payables
The company advances funds to recipient organizations during the year, based on recipient funding contracts,
to carry out program activities. Historically these unspent advances have been repaid back to FII prior to the end
of the ﬁrst quarter of the new ﬁscal year after fourth quarter reports have been submitted and ﬁnal audits have
been completed. As at March 31, 2007, there are no identiﬁable unspent program advances repayable by the
recipients (2006 - $466,000).
Program payables at March 31, 2007 of $714,000 (2006 - $667,000) relate to the net amount payable at
March 31, 2007 for programs being carried out in the subsidiary company FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
6) Dream Home China
The Company provided the registered capital of $1,605,840 (US $1,200,000) to FII Consulting (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd. through a grant agreement, whereby the funds are committed to the Dream Home China project and
cannot otherwise be returned to the Company. The Company entered into an agreement with a development
company in China with respect to the construction and lease back of a demonstration centre and wood frame
construction villas. Construction of this project was completed December 31, 2006. All costs were capitalized at
that time and are now being expensed over a three-year period starting January 1, 2007.
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Cost includes the fair market value of certain assets transferred to the Company from the Province effective
April 1, 2003, for one dollar. These assets are now fully depreciated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2006
(tabular amounts in $000s

8) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
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9) Due to the Province of British Columbia
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Change in Dream Home China assets net of amortization represents construction costs during the year
of $37,000 (2006 - $500,000) less amortization of prepaid lease of $342,000 (2006 - $0).
Change in capital assets net of amortization represents assets acquired during the year of $529,000
(2006 - $419,000) less amortization of $582,000 (2006 - $652,000)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2006
(tabular amounts in $000s

10) Deferred revenue
The company defers contributions received from the Province of British Columbia used for the acquisition
of Dream Home China and capital assets and recognises the revenue as these assets are amortized. The
Deferred revenue account, therefore, will increase by the purchase of assets and decrease by the amortization
of those assets.
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11) Share capital
The Company has authorized capital of 100 common shares without par value of which 10 shares are issued and
outstanding. The Minister of Forests holds the shares issued as the designated representative of Her Majesty the
Queen in right of the Province of British Columbia.
12) Contributed Surplus
Contributed surplus represents the transfer of capital assets from the Province of British Columbia on the set up
of the Company. This amount is being amortized each year equal to the amount of amortization taken on the
capital assets.
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13) Commitments
The Company has lease commitments for the premises it occupies at 1130 West Pender and kiosk space at the
Tsawwassen Ferry Terminal as follows:
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The Company also has an obligation to pay $500,000 in ﬁscal 2007/2008 to the City of Richmond.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2006
(tabular amounts in $000s

14) Related party transactions
The Company is related through common ownership to all Province of British Columbia ministries, agencies and
crown corporations. Transactions with these entities, unless disclosed separately in these ﬁnancial statements,
are generally considered to be in the normal course of operations and are recorded at the exchange amount.
15) Comparative Figures
Certain ﬁgures for 2006 have been reclassiﬁed to make their presentation consistent with that adopted in 2007.
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Glossary

BCMON
COFI

The BC Market Outreach Network – an in-house FII program.
The Council of Forest Industries – B.C. forest industry association representing
B.C. forest companies.

CWEP

Canada Wood Export Program – program operated by Natural Resources Canada,
a Government of Canada department.

DHC

Dream Home Canada – The name given to FII’s Shanghai demonstration centre
and the multi-year initiative to introduce wood-frame construction and increased
B.C. forest products to China.

FII
IBS
LEED
MDBA
MDF

Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
International Builders Show.
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design.
Market Development Business Area – A group of programs operated by FII.
Medium density ﬁbreboard – a panel product used extensively in construction.

OSB Oriented strand board – a panel product used extensively in construction.
Phytosanitary

A system for preventing the spread of pests and disease through the import
and export of plant products (including wood products) by treating and
testing products to international standards.

ROI

Return on investment – a comparison of the money earned (or lost) on an
investment compared to the amount of money invested.

SPF Group

A group of companies manufacturing spruce, pine and ﬁr (SPF) wood products.
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Contact us

For more information on
Forestry Innovation Investment
and its programs, please contact us at:
Forestry Innovation Investment Ltd.
Suite 1200, 1130 West Pender Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia
V6E 4A4 Canada
Telephone 604 685 7507
Fax 604 685 5373
Email: info@bcﬁi.ca
Web site: http://www.bcﬁi.ca
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